

Global Propagator for the Massless Dirac Operator and Spectral Asymptotics

Matteo Capoferrio and Dmitri Vassilievo

Abstract. We construct the propagator of the massless Dirac operator W on a closed Riemannian 3-manifold as the sum of two invariantly defined oscillatory integrals, global in space and in time, with distinguished complex-valued phase functions. The two oscillatory integrals—the positive and the negative propagators—correspond to positive and negative eigenvalues of W, respectively. This enables us to provide a global invariant definition of the full symbols of the propagators (scalar matrix-functions on the cotangent bundle), a closed formula for the principal symbols and an algorithm for the explicit calculation of all their homogeneous components. Furthermore, we obtain small time expansions for principal and subprincipal symbols of the propagators in terms of geometric invariants. Lastly, we use our results to compute the third local Weyl coefficients in the asymptotic expansion of the eigenvalue counting functions of W.

Mathematics Subject Classification. Primary 35L45; Secondary 35Q41, 58J40, 58J45, 35P20.

Keywords. Dirac operator, Hyperbolic propagators, Global Fourier integral operators, Weyl coefficients.

Contents

- 1. Statement of the Problem
- 2. Main Results
- 3. Preliminary Results for General First Order Systems
 - 3.1. Positive and Negative Propagators: An Abstract Approach
 - 3.2. Construction of Positive and Negative Propagators
 - 3.3. The Algorithm

Published online: 09 August 2022

- 4. Invariant Description of Pseudodifferential Operators Acting on Scalar Functions
- 5. Global Propagator for the Dirac Operator
 - 5.1. Transport Equations
 - 5.2. Pseudodifferential Operators $U^{\pm}(0)$



- 30
- 6. Principal Symbol of the Global Dirac Propagator
- 7. Explicit Small Time Expansion of the Symbol
 - 7.1. Special Framing
 - 7.2. Small Time Expansion of the Principal Symbols
 - 7.3. Small Time Expansion of the Subprincipal Symbols
 - 7.4. Invariant Reformulation
- 8. An Application: Spectral Asymptotics
- 9. Examples
 - 9.1. The Case $M = \mathbb{S}^3$
 - 9.2. The Case $M = \mathbb{S}^2 \times \mathbb{S}^1$

Appendix A: The Weitzenböck Connection

Appendix B: Some technical proofs

- B.1. Proof of Theorem 5.4
- B. 2. Proof of Theorem 7.11

References

1. Statement of the Problem

Let (M,g) be a connected oriented closed Riemannian 3-manifold. Throughout this paper we denote by ∇ the Levi-Civita connection, by $\Gamma^{\alpha}{}_{\beta\gamma}$ the Christoffel symbols and by

$$\rho(x) := \sqrt{\det g_{\alpha\beta}(x)} \tag{1.1}$$

the Riemannian density.

Let us clarify straight away why, when dealing with the massless Dirac operator, we restrict our analysis to the 3-dimensional case. The reason is twofold: on the one hand, dimension three is physically meaningful in that it represents the first step towards a potential future analysis of the relativistic 3+1-dimensional setting, and on the other hand, our method requires the eigenvalues of the principal symbol of our operator to be simple, cf. Sect. 3, which is not the case for the massless Dirac operator in higher dimensions.

Let e_j , j=1,2,3, be a positively oriented global framing, i.e. a set of three orthonormal smooth vector fields¹ whose orientation agrees with the orientation of the manifold. In chosen local coordinates x^{α} , $\alpha=1,2,3$, we will denote by e_j^{α} the α -th component of the j-th vector field. Throughout this paper we use Greek letters for holonomic (tensor) indices and Latin for anholonomic (frame) indices. We adopt Einstein's convention of summation over repeated indices.

Let

$$s^{1} := \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} = s_{1}, \quad s^{2} := \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -i \\ i & 0 \end{pmatrix} = s_{2}, \quad s^{3} := \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix} = s_{3}$$
 (1.2)

be the standard Pauli matrices and let

$$\sigma^{\alpha} := s^j e_i{}^{\alpha} \tag{1.3}$$

¹ Observe that an orientable 3-manifold is automatically parallelizable [37,48].

be their projection along the framing. The quantity σ^{α} is a vector-function with values in the space of trace-free Hermitian 2×2 matrices.

Definition 1.1. We call massless Dirac operator the operator

$$W:=-i\sigma^{\alpha}\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\alpha}}+\frac{1}{4}\sigma_{\beta}\left(\frac{\partial\sigma^{\beta}}{\partial x^{\alpha}}+\Gamma^{\beta}{}_{\alpha\gamma}\,\sigma^{\gamma}\right)\right):H^{1}(M;\mathbb{C}^{2})\to L^{2}(M;\mathbb{C}^{2}).\left(1.4\right)$$

Here H^1 is the usual Sobolev space of functions which are square integrable together with their first partial derivatives.

In relativistic particle physics the massless Dirac equation is often referred to as the Weyl equation, which explains our notation. Our operator W appears as the result of separating out the time variable in the relativistic Weyl equation, see [19] for details. Henceforth, we refer to the massless Dirac operator simply as the Dirac operator, which conforms with the terminology adopted in differential geometry.

Remark 1.2. The Dirac operator admits several equivalent definitions. The most common is the geometric definition written in terms spinor bundles. Our analytic Definition 1.1 is equivalent to the standard geometric one, see [28, Appendix B].

Definition 1.1 depends on the choice of framing and this issue requires clarification.

Let

$$G: M \to SU(2)$$
 (1.5)

be an arbitrary smooth special unitary matrix-function and let \widetilde{W} be the Dirac operator corresponding to a given framing. Consider the transformation

$$\widetilde{W} \mapsto G^* \widetilde{W} G =: W,$$
 (1.6)

where the star indicates Hermitian conjugation. It turns out that W is also a Dirac operator, only corresponding to a different framing.

Let us now look at the matter the other way round. Suppose that \widetilde{W} and W are two Dirac operators. Does there exist a smooth matrix-function (1.5) such that $W = G^*\widetilde{W}G$? If the operators \widetilde{W} and W are in a certain sense 'close' then the answer is yes, but in general there are topological obstructions and the answer is no. This motivates the introduction of the concept of spin structure, see [6, 19].

The gauge transformation (1.5), (1.6) is the manifestation, at operator level, of the freedom of pointwise rotating the framing in a smooth way,

$$\widetilde{e}_j \mapsto O_j^{\ k} \widetilde{e}_k =: e_j, \qquad O \in C^{\infty}(M; \mathrm{SO}(3)),$$
 (1.7)

via the double cover

$$SU(2) \stackrel{2:1}{\rightarrow} SO(3)$$
.

The Dirac operator (1.4) is uniquely determined by the metric and spin structure modulo an SU(2) gauge transformation.

The Dirac operator is symmetric with respect to the L^2 inner product

$$\langle u, v \rangle := \int_{M} u^* v \, \rho \, dx, \qquad u, v \in L^2(M; \mathbb{C}^2),$$
 (1.8)

where $dx = dx^1 dx^2 dx^3$. Furthermore, a simple calculation shows that it is elliptic.²

It is well known that the Dirac operator is self-adjoint and its spectrum is discrete, accumulating to $+\infty$ and to $-\infty$. Let λ_k be the eigenvalues of W and v_k the corresponding orthonormal eigenfunctions, $k \in \mathbb{Z}$. The choice of particular enumeration is irrelevant for our purposes, but what is important is that eigenvalues are enumerated with account of their multiplicity. Note that the Dirac operator has the special property that it commutes with the antilinear operator of charge conjugation

$$v = \begin{pmatrix} v_1 \\ v_2 \end{pmatrix} \mapsto \begin{pmatrix} -\overline{v_2} \\ \overline{v_1} \end{pmatrix} =: \mathbf{C}(v),$$

see [24, Appendix A] for details, and this implies that eigenvalues have even multiplicity.

Definition 1.3. We define the *Dirac propagator* as

$$U(t) := e^{-itW}. (1.9)$$

The Dirac propagator is the (distributional) solution of the hyperbolic Cauchy problem

$$\left(-i\frac{\partial}{\partial t} + W\right)U = 0, \qquad (1.10a)$$

$$U(0) = \mathrm{Id} \ . \tag{1.10b}$$

It is a time-dependent unitary operator which can written via functional calculus as

$$U(t) = \sum_{\lambda_k} e^{-it\lambda_k} v_k \langle v_k, \cdot \rangle.$$
 (1.11)

The Dirac propagator can be written as a sum of three operators

$$U(t) = U^{+}(t) + U^{0} + U^{-}(t)$$

defined as

$$U^{+}(t) := \sum_{\lambda_{k} > 0} e^{-it\lambda_{k}} v_{k} \langle v_{k}, \cdot \rangle, \qquad (1.12a)$$

$$U^{0} := \sum_{\lambda_{k}=0} v_{k} \langle v_{k}, \cdot \rangle, \tag{1.12b}$$

$$U^{-}(t) := \sum_{\lambda_{k} < 0} e^{-it\lambda_{k}} v_{k} \langle v_{k}, \cdot \rangle.$$
 (1.12c)

 $^{^2}$ Ellipticity means that the determinant of the principal symbol does not vanish on $T^*M\setminus\{0\}.$

We call the operators (1.12a), (1.12b) and (1.12c) positive, zero mode and negative propagators, respectively. These are time-dependent partial isometries. Note that the operator U^0 is nontrivial only if the Dirac operator has zero modes (i.e. if zero is an eigenvalue).

We define the positive (+) and negative (-) local counting functions as

$$N_{\pm}(y,\lambda) := \begin{cases} 0 & \text{for } \lambda \le 0, \\ \sum_{0 < \pm \lambda_k < \lambda} [v_k(y)]^* v_k(y) & \text{for } \lambda > 0. \end{cases}$$
 (1.13)

Of course, integration over M gives

$$N_{\pm}(\lambda) := \int_{M} N_{\pm}(y,\lambda) \, \rho(y) \, dy = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{for } \lambda \le 0, \\ \sum_{0 < \pm \lambda_{k} < \lambda} 1 & \text{for } \lambda > 0. \end{cases}$$
 (1.14)

The functions (1.14) are the 'global' counting functions, the only difference with the usual definition [45] being that we count the positive and negative eigenvalues separately.

Let $\hat{\mu} : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{C}$ be a smooth function such that $\hat{\mu} = 1$ in some neighbourhood of the origin and supp $\hat{\mu}$ is sufficiently small. Here 'sufficiently small' means that supp $\hat{\mu} \subset (-T_0, T_0)$, where T_0 is the infimum of lengths of all the geodesic loops originating from all the points of the manifold.

Following the notation of [17], we write the Fourier transform as

$$\mathcal{F}_{\lambda \to t}[f](t) = \hat{f}(t) = \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} e^{-it\lambda} f(\lambda) \, d\lambda \tag{1.15}$$

and the inverse Fourier transform as

$$\mathcal{F}_{t\to\lambda}^{-1}[\hat{f}](\lambda) = f(\lambda) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} e^{it\lambda} \hat{f}(t) dt.$$
 (1.16)

Accordingly, we put $\mu := \mathcal{F}^{-1}[\hat{\mu}]$.

It is known [26,34–36,45] that the mollified derivative of the positive (resp. negative) counting function admits a complete asymptotic expansion in integer powers of λ :

$$(N'_{\pm} * \mu)(y, \lambda) = c_2^{\pm}(y) \lambda^2 + c_1^{\pm}(y) \lambda + c_0^{\pm}(y) + \dots$$
 as $\lambda \to +\infty$. (1.17)

Here * stands for the convolution in the variable λ .

Definition 1.4. We call *local Weyl coefficients* the smooth functions $c_k^{\pm}(y)$ appearing in the asymptotic expansions (1.17).

Remark 1.5. (i) Our definition of Weyl coefficients does not depend on the choice of mollifier μ . If $\widetilde{\mu}$ is another mollifier with the same support properties, then

$$(N'_+ * \mu)(y, \lambda) - (N'_+ * \widetilde{\mu})(y, \lambda) = O(\lambda^{-\infty})$$
 as $\lambda \to +\infty$.

(ii) Our definition of Weyl coefficients is, in a sense, unusual. The standard convention in the literature is to call local Weyl coefficients the functions appearing in the asymptotic expansion of the mollified counting function

 $N * \mu$, as opposed to its derivative. The two definitions are, effectively, the same up to integrating factors,

$$(N_{\pm} * \mu)(y, \lambda) = \int_{-\infty}^{\lambda} (N'_{\pm} * \mu)(y, \kappa) d\kappa$$

= $\frac{1}{3} c_2^{\pm}(y) \lambda^3 + \frac{1}{2} c_1^{\pm}(y) \lambda^2 + c_0^{\pm}(y) \lambda + \dots$ as $\lambda \to +\infty$,

compare (1.17) with (1.18). As a matter of convenience, we will stick with Definition 1.4 throughout this paper.

(iii) It was shown in [24] that

$$c_2^{\pm}(y) = \frac{1}{2\pi^2}, \qquad c_1^{\pm}(y) = 0.$$
 (1.19)

(iv) The unmollified counting functions $N_{\pm}(y,\lambda)$ also admit asymptotic expansions as $\lambda \to +\infty$, but here the situation is more delicate because these functions are discontinuous and one encounters number-theoretic issues. It is known [23,24] that

$$N_{\pm}(y,\lambda) = \frac{1}{6\pi^2} \lambda^3 + O(\lambda^2)$$
 as $\lambda \to +\infty$

uniformly over $y \in M$ and, furthermore, under appropriate assumptions on geodesic loops,

$$N_{\pm}(y,\lambda) = \frac{1}{6\pi^2} \lambda^3 + o(\lambda^2)$$
 as $\lambda \to +\infty$.

(v) An important topic in the spectral theory of first order elliptic systems is the issue of spectral asymmetry [1–4]. Let us mention that to observe spectral asymmetry for our Dirac operator one as to go as far as the sixth Weyl coefficients. This follows from the fact [12,31] that the eta function

$$\eta(s) := \sum_{\lambda_+ \neq 0} \frac{\operatorname{sgn} \lambda_k}{|\lambda_k|^s} = \int_0^{+\infty} \lambda^{-s} (N'_+(\lambda) - N'_-(\lambda)) \, d\lambda$$

is holomorphic in the complex half-plane Re s > -2 and has its first pole at s = -2. The value of the residue of the eta function at s = -2, which was computed explicitly by Branson and Gilkey [14], describes the difference

$$\int_{M} (c_{-3}^{+}(y) - c_{-3}^{-}(y)) \, \rho(y) \, dy$$

between the sixth (global) Weyl coefficients.

Our paper has two main objectives.

Objective 1 Construct the propagators $U^{\pm}(t)$ explicitly, modulo integral operators with infinitely smooth kernels, and do so as a single invariantly defined oscillatory integral global in space and in time.

Objective 2 Compute the third Weyl coefficient $c_0^{\pm}(y)$.

30

Remark 1.6. One cannot, in general, identify the third Weyl coefficient by looking at the asymptotic behaviour of the unmollified counting function. In order to illustrate this point, let us consider the 3-torus equipped with standard flat metric. Already in this simple case the mathematical statement

$$N_{\pm}(y,\lambda) = \frac{1}{6\pi^2} \,\lambda^3 + c_0^{\pm}(y) \,\lambda + o(\lambda)$$
 as $\lambda \to +\infty$

is false. This fact can be established by writing down the eigenvalues explicitly as in [24, Appendix B] and using standard results [32] from analytic number theory.

2. Main Results

The study of Dirac operators in curved space, arguably the most important operators from the point of view of physical applications alongside the Laplacian, has a long and noble history in the mathematical literature. Excellent introductions to the subject can be found in [39] and [30].

Due to the physical significance of the topic, numerous researchers have contributed to our current understanding of the spectrum of Dirac operators on Riemannian manifolds. One can ask, for example, how the eigenvalues behave under perturbations of the metric [13,25,28], how the spectrum depends on the spin structure [10], whether zero modes exist [8], et cetera.

Later in this paper we will be concerned with the study of the asymptotic behaviour of large (in modulus) eigenvalues of the Dirac operator on a closed 3-manifold. In the case of scalar elliptic operators, such as for example the Laplace–Beltrami operator, a wide range of classical techniques are available in the literature to compute spectral asymptotics. However, if one is interested in a first order system, whose spectrum is, in general, not semi-bounded, the heat kernel method can no longer be applied, at least in its original form, and even resolvent techniques require major modification [7]. A very natural approach in this case is the so-called wave method, going back to Levitan [40] and Avakumovic [5], which involves recovering information about the eigenvalue counting function from the behaviour of the wave propagator, see (1.11). How this can be done will be explained in greater detail later on. This partly motivates our interest in the Dirac propagator (1.9), which is also of interest on its own. Of course, the hyperbolic Cauchy problem (1.10)for W lies at the heart of relevant applications in theoretical physics (e.g., the mathematical description of neutrinos/antineutrinos in curved space).

In order to construct the propagator (1.9) precisely, one needs to know all eigenvalues and eigenfunctions of W, which is unrealistic for a generic Riemannian manifold. However, microlocal techniques allow one to construct the propagator (1.9) approximately, modulo an integral operator with smooth integral kernel. This fact is well-known and an extensive discussion can be found, for instance, in [33].

There are, however, several issues with this classical construction: (i) it is not invariant under changes of local coordinates, (ii) it is local in space and (iii) it is local in time. The last issue, locality in time, is especially

serious: it is to do with obstructions associated with caustics. In practice, constructing a propagator locally in time means that for large times one has to use compositions

$$U(t) = U(t - t_i) \circ U(t_i - t_{i-1}) \circ \cdots \circ U(t_2 - t_1) \circ U(t_1).$$

The propagator U(t) is a special case of a Fourier integral operator and it is known that handling compositions of such operators is a daunting task.

Our goal is to construct the Dirac propagator explicitly, in a global—i.e., as a single oscillatory integral—and invariant (under change of coordinates and gauge transformations) fashion. The key idea, originally proposed by Laptev, Safarov and Vassiliev in [38] and further developed in [45], is to use Fourier integral operators with *complex-valued*, as opposed to real valued, phase function. Crucially, this allows one to circumvent the topological obstructions due to caustics.

Our work partly builds upon [23] and [24]. In [23], using the wave method, Chervova, Downes and Vassiliev obtained an explicit formula for the second Weyl coefficient of an elliptic self-adjoint first order pseudodifferential matrix operator, fixing thirty years of incorrect or incomplete publications in the subject, see [23, Sect. 11]. In [24] the same authors applied the results from [23] to the Dirac operator. Unlike the current paper, the approach from [23] is not geometric in nature and the complexity of phase functions is not actually put to use. Note that some results from [24] were improved by Strohmaier and Li in [41], where the authors studied the second term of the mollified spectral counting function of Dirac type operators and characterised operators in this class with vanishing second Weyl coefficient.

A fully geometric global construction of the (scalar) wave propagator $e^{-it\sqrt{-\Delta}}$ on closed Riemannian manifolds, as a single oscillatory integral with complex-valued phase function, was recently proposed by the authors and Levitin in [17], and subsequently extended to the Lorentzian setting in [16]. The publication [17] is the starting point of the current paper. The extension of the results of the current paper to globally hyperbolic Lorentzian manifolds is carried out in [18].

Our main results are as follows.

- 1. We present a global construction of each of the two propagators, the positive propagator U⁺(t) and the negative propagator U⁻(t), as a single invariantly defined oscillatory integral, global in space and in time, with distinguished complex-valued phase function (Theorem 3.3, Definition 5.1, Definition 5.3). We provide a closed formula for the principal symbols of the propagators (Theorem 6.1) and an algorithm for the calculation of the subprincipal symbols and all asymptotic components of lower degree of homogeneity in momentum (Sect. 3.3).
- 2. We give an explicit small time expansion of principal and subprincipal symbols of positive and negative propagators in terms of geometric invariants (Theorem 7.13).
- 3. We compute the third local Weyl coefficients in the asymptotic expansion of the two eigenvalue counting functions (1.13) (Theorem 8.1).

Along the way we prove a number of results about general first order elliptic systems and invariant representations of pseudodifferential operators on manifolds. Note that the third Weyl coefficients can, in principle and with some work, be also obtained by a different method using results available in the literature, see Remark 8.3.

Our paper is structured as follows.

In Sect. 3 we explain how to construct explicitly positive and negative propagators for a general first order elliptic self-adjoint (pseudo)differential matrix operator, with a rigorous mathematical justification.

In Sect. 4 we deal with the delicate issue of invariant descriptions of pseudodifferential operators acting on scalar functions. In particular, we examine the relation between our g-subprincipal symbol and the standard notion of subprincipal symbol for operators acting on half-densities.

In Sect. 5 we apply the results from Sect. 3 to the Dirac operator. A formula for the principal symbol of positive and negative Dirac propagators is provided in Sect. 6, whereas small time expansions for principal and subprincipal symbols of positive and negative propagators are obtained in Sect. 7. Our final results are expressed in terms of geometric invariants: curvature of the Levi-Civita connection associated with the metric g and torsion of the Weitzenböck connection generated by the framing defining the Dirac operator.

In Sect. 8 we use the results from Sect. 7 to compute the third local Weyl coefficients for the Dirac operator.

Finally, in Sect. 9 we apply our techniques to two explicit examples: $M = \mathbb{S}^3$, where formulae are isotropic in momentum, and $M = \mathbb{S}^2 \times \mathbb{S}^1$, where they are not.

The paper is complemented by two appendices, containing background material and technical proofs.

3. Preliminary Results for General First Order Systems

In this section we will consider a broader class of first order systems and we will prove fairly general results, which will be later applied to the special case of the Dirac operator. In doing so, we will need some of the technology developed in [23]. The setting of our analysis is somewhat different from that in [23], in that our operators are differential, as opposed to pseudodifferential (see also Remark 3.11), and act on scalar functions on a Riemannian manifold, as opposed to half-densities on a manifold with no metric structure. In particular, the change of the space in which the operator acts raises delicate issues concerning the invariance of the mathematical objects involved. For these reasons we provide here a modified version of some of the results from [23], adapted to the setting of our paper.

Throughout this section, M will be a smooth connected closed Riemannian manifold of dimension $d \geq 2$.

Let A be an elliptic symmetric (with respect to (1.8)) first order $m \times m$ matrix differential operator acting on m-columns of smooth complex-valued

scalar functions $v \in C^{\infty}(M; \mathbb{C}^m)$ and let $A_{\text{prin}} : T'M \to \text{Herm}(m, \mathbb{C})$ be the principal symbol of A, where $T'M := T^*M \setminus \{0\}$ and $\text{Herm}(m, \mathbb{C})$ is the real vector space of $m \times m$ Hermitian matrices.

We denote by $h^{(j)}(x,\xi)$ the eigenvalues of $A_{\text{prin}}(x,\xi)$ enumerated in increasing order, with positive index $j=1,2,\ldots,m^+$ for positive $h^{(j)}(x,\xi)$ and negative index $j=-1,-2,\ldots,-m^-$ for negative $h^{(j)}(x,\xi)$. We assume that the eigenvalues of the principal symbol A_{prin} are simple. Clearly, $m=m^++m^-$, because the ellipticity condition $\det A_{\text{prin}}(x,\xi)\neq 0$ ensures that all eigenvalues are nonzero. In fact, as our operator is differential, one can show [29, Remark 2.1] that m can only be even and that we have

$$m^{+} = m^{-} = \frac{m}{2} \,. \tag{3.1}$$

Furthermore, the eigenvalues $h^{(j)}$ of the principal symbol and the corresponding normalised eigenvectors $v^{(j)}$ possess the symmetry

$$h^{(-j)}(x,\xi) = -h^{(j)}(x,-\xi), \quad v^{(-j)}(x,\xi) = v^{(j)}(x,-\xi), \qquad j = 1,\dots, \frac{m}{2}.$$
(3.2)

Under the above assumptions the spectrum of A is discrete and accumulates to $+\infty$ and to $-\infty$. We denote eigenvalues and orthonormalised (smooth) eigenfunctions of A by λ_k and v_k , respectively, enumerated with account of their multiplicity.

By replacing W with A, one can define the 'full' propagator $U_A(t)$ for A via (1.11), as well as the positive, zero mode and negative propagators via (1.12a)–(1.12c), which we denote by $U_A^+(t)$, U_A^0 and $U_A^-(t)$, respectively.

Each eigenvalue $h^{(j)}(x,\xi)$ of the principal symbol can be interpreted as a Hamiltonian on the cotangent bundle. The corresponding Hamiltonian flow $(x^{(j)}(t;y,\eta),\xi^{(j)}(t;y,\eta))$, i.e. the (global) solution to Hamilton's equations

$$\dot{x}^{(j)} = h_{\xi}^{(j)}(x^{(j)}, \xi^{(j)}), \qquad \dot{\xi}^{(j)} = -h_{x}^{(j)}(x^{(j)}, \xi^{(j)})$$

with initial condition $(x^{(j)}(0; y, \eta), \xi^{(j)}(0; y, \eta)) = (y, \eta)$, generates a Lagrangian manifold to which one can, in turn, associate a *global* Lagrangian distribution. See [17, Sect. 2] and references therein for details. In particular, the singularities of the solution to the initial value problem

$$(-i\partial_t + A)v = 0, \qquad v|_{t=0} = v_0$$
 (3.3)

propagate along Hamiltonian trajectories generated by the eigenvalues of $A_{\rm prin}.$

3.1. Positive and Negative Propagators: An Abstract Approach

Our aim is to show that $U_A^+(t)$ and $U_A^-(t)$ can be separately approximated by a finite sum of global oscillatory integrals. Before doing so, let us state and prove an abstract preparatory theorem.

Notation 3.1. Let

$$v \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R} \times M_x \times M_y), \qquad (\lambda, x, y) \mapsto v(\lambda, x, y).$$

We write

$$v = O(|\lambda|^{-\infty})$$
 as $\lambda \to \pm \infty$

if for every $\alpha > 0$, every $k \in \mathbb{N}$ and every linear partial differential operator P with infinitely smooth coefficients of order k on $M_x \times M_y$ there exists a positive constant $C_{\alpha,P}$ such that

$$|Pv| \le C_{\alpha,P} |\lambda|^{-\alpha}$$
 for $\pm \lambda > 1$,

uniformly over $M_x \times M_y$.

Theorem 3.2. Let $(T_-, T_+) \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ be an open interval (possibly, the whole real line) and let $u^+(t,x,y)$, $u^-(t,x,y)$, $\tilde{u}^+(t,x,y)$ and $\tilde{u}^-(t,x,y)$ be elements of $C^{\infty}(M_x \times M_y; \mathcal{D}'(T_-, T_+))$, satisfying

(a)
$$u^+(t, x, y) + u^-(t, x, y) = \tilde{u}^+(t, x, y) + \tilde{u}^-(t, x, y) \mod C^{\infty}((T_-, T_+) \times M_x \times M_y)$$
.

Furthermore, assume that for every $\zeta \in C_0^{\infty}(T_-, T_+)$ we have

(b)
$$\mathcal{F}_{t\to\lambda}^{-1}[\zeta u^{\pm}] = O(|\lambda|^{-\infty})$$
 as $\lambda \to \mp \infty$

(b)
$$\mathcal{F}_{t \to \lambda}^{-1}[\zeta u^{\pm}] = O(|\lambda|^{-\infty})$$
 as $\lambda \to \mp \infty$,
(c) $\mathcal{F}_{t \to \lambda}^{-1}[\zeta \widetilde{u}^{\pm}] = O(|\lambda|^{-\infty})$ as $\lambda \to \mp \infty$.

Then

$$u^{\pm}(t, x, y) = \widetilde{u}^{\pm}(t, x, y) \mod C^{\infty}((T_{-}, T_{+}) \times M_{x} \times M_{y}). \tag{3.4}$$

Proof. Let $\zeta \in C_0^{\infty}(T_-, T_+)$. Multiplying (a) by $\zeta(t)$ we get

$$\zeta(t) u^{+}(t, x, y) + \zeta(t) u^{-}(t, x, y) = \zeta(t) \widetilde{u}^{+}(t, x, y) + \zeta(t) \widetilde{u}^{-}(t, x, y)$$

$$\mod C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R} \times M_x \times M_y). \tag{3.5}$$

Applying the inverse Fourier transform $\mathcal{F}_{t\to\lambda}^{-1}$ to (3.5), letting $\lambda\to+\infty$ and using assumptions (b) and (c) we obtain

$$\mathcal{F}_{t \to \lambda}^{-1}[\zeta u^{+}] = \mathcal{F}_{t \to \lambda}^{-1}[\zeta \widetilde{u}^{+}] + O(|\lambda|^{-\infty}) \quad \text{as } \lambda \to +\infty.$$
 (3.6)

Here, when dealing with the remainder from (3.5), we used the fact that the Fourier transform of a compactly supported smooth function is rapidly decreasing. The compactness of M ensures a uniform estimate in the spatial variables.

Furthermore, (b) and (c) immediately imply

$$\mathcal{F}_{t \to \lambda}^{-1}[\zeta u^+] = \mathcal{F}_{t \to \lambda}^{-1}[\zeta \widetilde{u}^+] + O(|\lambda|^{-\infty}) \quad \text{as } \lambda \to -\infty.$$
 (3.7)

Combining (3.6) and (3.7) we arrive at

$$\mathcal{F}_{t\to\lambda}^{-1}[\zeta(u^+-\widetilde{u}^+)]=O(|\lambda|^{-\infty})$$
 as $|\lambda|\to+\infty$,

which implies

$$\zeta(u^+ - \widetilde{u}^+) \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R} \times M_x \times M_y).$$

As $\zeta \in C_0^{\infty}(T_-, T_+)$ in the above formula is arbitrary, we conclude that

$$u^+ - \widetilde{u}^+ \in C^{\infty}((T_-, T_+) \times M_x \times M_y).$$

A similar argument gives

$$u^- - \widetilde{u}^- \in C^{\infty}((T_-, T_+) \times M_x \times M_u).$$

3.2. Construction of Positive and Negative Propagators

Theorem 3.3. Let A be an elliptic self-adjoint first order pseudodifferential operator acting on m-columns of scalar functions over M, whose principal symbol has simple eigenvalues. The positive and negative propagators $U_{\scriptscriptstyle A}^+(t)$ and $U_A^-(t)$ can be written, modulo an infinitely smoothing operator, as a finite sum of oscillatory integrals, global in space and in time. More precisely, we have

$$U_A^+(t) \stackrel{\text{mod}}{=} V_A^{-\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{m^+} U_A^{(j)}(t),$$
 (3.8)

$$U_A^-(t) \stackrel{\text{mod}}{=} \sum_{j=1}^{\Psi^{-\infty}} U_A^{(-j)}(t),$$
 (3.9)

where

$$\begin{split} U_A^{(j)}(t) &:= \frac{1}{(2\pi)^d} \int_{T'M} e^{i\varphi^{(j)}(t,x;y,\eta)} \, \mathfrak{a}^{(j)}(t;y,\eta) \\ \chi^{(j)}(t,x;y,\eta) \, w^{(j)}(t,x;y,\eta) \, (\,\cdot\,) \, \rho(y) \, dy \, d\eta \end{split} \tag{3.10}$$

and

- ullet by $\stackrel{\mathrm{mod}}{=}^{\Psi^{-\infty}}$ we mean that the operator on the LHS is equal to the operator on the RHS up to an integral operator with infinitely smooth integral kernel;
- (·) is meant for insertion of $f_0(y)$ when computing $(U_A^{(j)}f_0)(x)$;
- the phase function $\varphi^{(j)} \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R} \times M \times T'M; \mathbb{C})$ satisfies

the phase function
$$\varphi^{(j)} \in C$$

$$(i) \varphi^{(j)}\big|_{x=x^{(j)}} = 0,$$

$$(ii) \varphi^{(j)}_{x^{\alpha}}\big|_{x=x^{(j)}} = \xi^{(j)}_{\alpha},$$

$$(iii) \det \varphi^{(j)}_{x^{\alpha}\eta_{\beta}}\big|_{x=x^{(j)}} \neq 0,$$

(iv) $\operatorname{Im} \varphi^{(j)} \geq 0$;

• the symbol $\mathfrak{a}^{(j)} \in S^0_{\mathrm{ph}}(\mathbb{R} \times T'M; \mathrm{Mat}(m;\mathbb{C}))$ is an element in the class of polyhomogeneous symbols of order zero with values in $m \times m$ complex matrices, which means that $\mathfrak{a}^{(j)}$ admits an asymptotic expansion in components positively homogeneous in momentum,

$$\mathfrak{a}^{(j)}(t;y,\eta) \sim \sum_{k=0}^{+\infty} \mathfrak{a}_{-k}^{(j)}(t;y,\eta), \qquad \mathfrak{a}_{-k}^{(j)}(t;y,\alpha\eta) = \alpha^{-k} \, \mathfrak{a}_{-k}^{(j)}(t;y,\eta), \quad \forall \alpha > 0;$$

$$\tag{3.11}$$

• the function $\chi^{(j)} \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R} \times M \times T'M)$ is a cut-off satisfying (I) $\chi^{(j)}(t, x; y, \eta) = 0$ on $\{(t, x; y, \eta) \mid |h^{(j)}(y, \eta)| \le 1/2\},$

(II) $\chi^{(j)}(t,x;y,\eta) = 1$ on the intersection of $\{(t,x;y,\eta) \mid |h^{(j)}(y,\eta)| \geq$ 1} with some conical neighbourhood of $\{(t, x^{(j)}(t; y, \eta); y, \eta)\},\$

(III) $\chi^{(j)}(t,x;y,\alpha\eta) = \chi^{(j)}(t,x;y,\eta)$ for $\alpha \geq 1$ on

$$\{(t, x; y, \eta) \mid |h^{(j)}(y, \eta)| \ge 1\};$$

• the weight $w^{(j)}$ is defined by

$$w^{(j)}(t, x; y, \eta) := [\rho(x) \rho(y)]^{-\frac{1}{2}} \left[\det^2(\varphi_{x^{\alpha} \eta_{\beta}}^{(j)}) \right]^{\frac{1}{4}}, \tag{3.12}$$

where the smooth branch of the complex root is chosen in such a way that

$$w^{(j)}(0, y; y, \eta) = [\rho(y)]^{-1}.$$

Remark 3.4. Note that the weight $w^{(j)}$ is the inverse of a smooth density in the variable y and a smooth scalar function in all other variables. The powers of the Riemannian density ρ in (3.12) are chosen in such a way that the symbol $\mathfrak{a}^{(j)}$ and the integral kernel

$$u^{(j)}(t,x,y) := \frac{1}{(2\pi)^d} \int_{T'_y M} e^{i\varphi^{(j)}(t,x;y,\eta)} \,\mathfrak{a}^{(j)}(t;y,\eta)$$

$$\chi^{(j)}(t,x;y,\eta) \,w^{(j)}(t,x;y,\eta) \,d\eta \tag{3.13}$$

of the operator (3.10) are scalar functions in all variables. The fact that the symbol is a genuine scalar function on $\mathbb{R} \times T'M$ is a crucial feature of our construction.

Taking the square and then extracting the fourth root in (3.12) serves the purpose of making the weight invariant under inversion of a single coordinate x^{α} or a single coordinate y^{α} . Note, however, that if one works on an orientable and oriented manifold, then one can simplify (3.12) to read

$$w^{(j)}(t, x; y, \eta) = [\rho(x) \rho(y)]^{-\frac{1}{2}} \left[\det \varphi_{x^{\alpha} \eta_{\beta}}^{(j)} \right]^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$

Remark 3.5. The existence of a phase function satisfying conditions (i)–(iv) is a nontrivial matter. In fact, the space of phase function satisfying these conditions is nonempty and path-connected, see [38, Lemmata 1.4 and 1.7].

Remark 3.6. Let us emphasise that a phase function $\varphi^{(j)}$ satisfying conditions (i)–(iv) from Theorem 3.2 automatically satisfies

$$\varphi_t^{(j)}(t, x^{(j)}; y, \eta) + h^{(j)}(x^{(j)}, \xi^{(j)}) = 0, \tag{3.14}$$

see, e.g., [45, Sect. 2.4.1]. The equation

$$\varphi_t^{(j)}(t, x; y, \eta) + h^{(j)}(x, \nabla \varphi^{(j)}(t, x; y, \eta)) = 0$$
(3.15)

is known in the literature as eikonal equation. Note that when $x = x^{(j)}(t; y, \eta)$ formula (3.15) turns into (3.14). In the classical approach to the construction of hyperbolic propagators, (3.15) is required to be satisfied in some open neighbourhood of

$$\{(t, x; y, \eta) \in \mathbb{R} \times M \times T'M \mid x = x^{(j)}(t; y, \eta)\}.$$
 (3.16)

This is a fundamental difference with the approach adopted in the current paper, where (3.15) is only required to be satisfied 'along the Hamiltonian flow', i.e., one only needs (3.14). Indeed, there is no open neighbourhood of (3.16) where the special phase functions that will be introduced and used in Sect. 5—the Levi-Civita phase functions—satisfy (3.15). Relaxing the requirements on

our phase functions is needed in order to accommodate an imaginary part and, consequently, circumvent obstructions arising from caustics.

Proof of Theorem 3.3. Suppose that we have constructed the symbols $\mathfrak{a}^{(j)}$ appearing in the oscillatory integrals (3.10) so that

$$\widetilde{U}_A(t) := \sum_j U_A^{(j)}(t) = \sum_{j=1}^{m^+} U_A^{(j)}(t) + \sum_{j=1}^{m^-} U_A^{(-j)}(t)$$
(3.17)

satisfies

$$\left(-i\frac{\partial}{\partial t} + A\right)\widetilde{U}_A(t) \stackrel{\text{mod } \Psi^{-\infty}}{=} 0, \qquad (3.18a)$$

$$\widetilde{U}_A(0) \stackrel{\text{mod } \Psi^{-\infty}}{=} \text{Id}.$$
 (3.18b)

How to achieve this will be explained in Sect. 3.3.

Put

$$\widetilde{u}^{+}(t, x, y) := \sum_{j=1}^{m^{+}} u^{(j)}(t, x, y),$$

$$\widetilde{u}^{-}(t, x, y) := \sum_{j=1}^{m^{-}} u^{(-j)}(t, x, y),$$

so that the Schwartz kernel of the operator $\widetilde{U}_A(t)$ reads

$$\widetilde{u}(t, x, y) = \widetilde{u}^+(t, x, y) + \widetilde{u}^-(t, x, y).$$

Let u(t, x, y), $u^+(t, x, y)$ and $u^-(t, x, y)$ be the Schwartz kernels of the operators $U_A(t)$, $U_A^+(t)$, and $U_A^-(t)$, respectively.

Formulae (3.18a) and (3.18b) imply

$$u(t, x, y) = \widetilde{u}(t, x, y) \mod C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R} \times M_x \times M_y; \operatorname{Mat}(m, \mathbb{C})).$$
 (3.19)

This fact can be established as follows.

Let

$$u_{\infty}(t, x, y) := u(t, x, y) - \widetilde{u}(t, x, y).$$

From the construction algorithm, we know that

$$\left[\left(-i \frac{\partial}{\partial t} + A^{(x)} \right) u_{\infty} \right] (t, x, y) = f(t, x, y), \tag{3.20}$$

$$u_{\infty}(0, x, y) = \zeta(x, y), \tag{3.21}$$

where $f \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R} \times M_x \times M_y; \operatorname{Mat}(m, \mathbb{C}))$ and $\zeta \in C^{\infty}(M_x \times M_y; \operatorname{Mat}(m, \mathbb{C}))$. Here the superscript in $A^{(x)}$ indicates that the differential operator A acts in the variable x. Using functional calculus, we can write the functions u_{∞} , f and ζ in terms of the eigenfunctions of A as

$$u_{\infty}(t, x, y) = \sum_{j,k} a_{jk}(t) v_j(x) [v_k(y)]^*, \qquad (3.22)$$

$$f(t, x, y) = \sum_{j,k} b_{jk}(t) v_j(x) [v_k(y)]^*, \qquad (3.23)$$

$$\zeta(x,y) = \sum_{j,k} c_{jk} v_j(x) [v_k(y)]^*.$$
(3.24)

Here the smooth functions b_{jk} and the constants c_{jk} are given, whereas the functions a_{jk} are our unknowns. Substituting (3.22)–(3.24) into (3.20), (3.21) we obtain the family of first order ODEs

$$\left[\left(-i \frac{d}{dt} + \lambda_j \right) a_{jk} \right] (t) = b_{jk}(t),$$

$$a_{jk}(0) = c_{jk},$$

whose solutions are

$$a_{jk}(t) = e^{-i\lambda_j t} \left(c_{jk} + i \int_0^t e^{i\lambda_j s} b_{jk}(s) ds \right). \tag{3.25}$$

Let $\widehat{\zeta}$ be the operator with integral kernel $\zeta(x,y)$,

$$\widehat{\zeta}: v(x) \mapsto \int_{M} \zeta(x,y) v(y) \rho(y) dy.$$

Then

$$c_{jk} = \langle v_j, \widehat{\zeta}v_k \rangle = \frac{1}{\lambda_j^l \lambda_k^n} \langle A^l v_j, \widehat{\zeta}A^n v_k \rangle = \frac{1}{\lambda_j^l \lambda_k^n} \langle v_j, (A^l \widehat{\zeta}A^n) v_k \rangle.$$
 (3.26)

The operator $A^l \widehat{\zeta} A^n$ is a pseudodifferential operator of order $-\infty$, so formula (3.26) and the fact that $\lambda_k \sim k^{1/d}$ when $k \to \infty$ allow one to conclude that the c_{jk} decay faster than any power of j and k as $j, k \to \infty$. A similar argument shows that the $b_{jk}(t)$ and their time derivatives decay faster than any power of j and k as $j, k \to \infty$ uniformly over any bounded open interval in \mathbb{R} . Formula (3.25) now tells us that the same is true for the $a_{jk}(t)$. This, in turn, implies that the series on the RHS of (3.22) defines a function $u_{\infty}(t, x, y)$ which is smooth in all variables. So we arrive at (3.19), which gives us assumption (a) in Theorem 3.2 with $(T_-, T_+) = \mathbb{R}$.

Resorting to standard stationary phase arguments—see, e.g., [45, Appendix C]—and using the properties (i)–(iv) of our phase functions, it is easy to see that u^{\pm} and \tilde{u}^{\pm} satisfy assumptions (b) and (c) of Theorem 3.2. Hence, Theorem 3.2 gives us (3.8) and (3.9).

The fact that the construction is global in time is guaranteed by [38, Lemma 1.2]. \Box

Remark 3.7. If one is prepared to give up globality in time, Theorem 3.3 and the corresponding proof can be adapted in a straightforward manner to the more customary case of real-valued—as opposed to complex-valued—phase functions. This is achieved by prescribing the phase functions to take values

in \mathbb{R} , dropping condition (iv) and replacing everywhere in the statement and in the proof the time domain \mathbb{R} with the interval (T_-, T_+) , where

$$T_{+} := \min_{j} \inf\{t > 0 \mid \det \varphi_{x^{\alpha} \eta_{\beta}}^{(j)} \Big|_{x = x^{(j)}} = 0, \ (y, \eta) \in T'M\}, \quad (3.27)$$

$$T_{-} := \max_{j} \sup\{t < 0 \mid \det \varphi_{x^{\alpha}\eta_{\beta}}^{(j)} \Big|_{x=x^{(j)}} = 0, \ (y,\eta) \in T'M\}.$$
 (3.28)

The values of T_{\pm} depend on the choice of particular real-valued phase functions, but we always have $T_{-} < 0 < T_{+}$. Observe that Theorem 3.2 was formulated in such a way that it covers both the case of real-valued and complex-valued phase functions.

The reader will have noticed that the zero mode propagator U_A^0 does not appear in our construction. This is due to the fact that, clearly,

$$U_A^0 \stackrel{\mathrm{mod}}{=}^{\Psi^{-\infty}} 0.$$

We end this subsection with the observation that, thanks to the presence of the weight $w^{(j)}$ in formula (3.10), the scalar matrix-function $\mathfrak{a}_0^{(j)}$ does not depend on the choice of the phase functions $\varphi^{(j)}$. This motivates the following definition.

Definition 3.8. We call $\mathfrak{a}_0^{(j)}$ the *principal symbol* of the Fourier integral operator (3.10).

The above definition agrees with the standard definition of principal symbol of a Fourier integral operator expressed as a section of the Keller–Maslov bundle, see [38, Sect. 2.4].

3.3. The Algorithm

The integral kernel (3.13) of $U_A^{(j)}(t)$ can be constructed explicitly as follows.

Step 1. Choose a phase function $\varphi^{(j)}$ compatible with Theorem 3.3. We will see later on that for the special case of the Dirac operator we can identify a distinguished phase function, the *Levi-Civita phase function*. Furthermore, set $\chi^{(j)} \equiv 1$. In fact, the purpose of the cut-off is to localise integration in a neighbourhood of the $h^{(j)}$ -flow and away from the zero section: different choices of $\chi^{(j)}$ result in oscillatory integrals differing by an infinitely smooth function.

Step 2. Act with the operator $-i\partial_t + A^{(x)}$ on the oscillatory integral (3.13). This produces a new oscillatory integral

$$\frac{1}{(2\pi)^d} \int_{T'\!,M} e^{i\varphi^{(j)}(t,x;y,\eta)} \, a^{(j)}(t,x;y,\eta) \, w^{(j)}(t,x;y,\eta) \, d\eta \tag{3.29}$$

whose amplitude $a^{(j)} \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R} \times M \times T'M; \operatorname{Mat}(m, \mathbb{C}))$ is given by

$$a^{(j)} := e^{-i\varphi^{(j)}} [w^{(j)}]^{-1} \left(-i\partial_t + A^{(x)} \right) \left(e^{i\varphi^{(j)}} \mathfrak{a}^{(j)} w^{(j)} \right).$$

By making use of the fact that $\varphi^{(j)}$ and $w^{(j)}$ are positively homogeneous in momentum η of degree 1 and 0, respectively, one can write down an asymptotic expansion for the amplitude $a^{(j)}$ in components positively homogeneous

in momentum:

$$\begin{split} a^{(j)}(t,x;y,\eta) &\sim \sum_{k=-1}^{+\infty} a^{(j)}_{-k}(t,x;y,\eta), \\ a^{(j)}_{-k}(t,x;y,\alpha\,\eta) &= \alpha^{-k}\, a^{(j)}_{-k}(t,x;y,\eta), \quad \forall \alpha > 0. \end{split}$$

Global Dirac Operator

Step 3. As $u^{(j)}(t, x, y)$ is to be the (distributional) solution of the hyperbolic equation

$$(-i\partial_t + A^{(x)})u^{(j)}(t, x, y) \stackrel{\text{mod } C^{\infty}}{=} 0,$$

one would like to impose the condition $a^{(j)}(t, x, y, \eta) = 0$. However, the amplitude $a^{(j)}$, unlike the symbol $\mathfrak{a}^{(j)}$, depends on x, and doing so would result in an unsolvable system of partial differential equations (PDEs). The current step consists in excluding the dependence of $a^{(j)}$ on x by means of a procedure known as reduction of the amplitude, to the end of reducing the system of PDEs to a system of ordinary differential equations instead.

Put³

$$L_{\alpha}^{(j)} := \left[(\varphi_{x\eta}^{(j)})^{-1} \right]_{\alpha}^{\beta} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\beta}}$$

and define

$$\mathfrak{S}_{0}^{(j)} := (\cdot)|_{x=x^{(j)}}, \qquad (3.30a)$$

$$\mathfrak{S}_{-k}^{(j)} := \mathfrak{S}_{0}^{(j)} \left[i \left[w^{(j)} \right]^{-1} \frac{\partial}{\partial \eta_{\beta}} w^{(j)} \left(1 + \sum_{1 \le |\alpha| \le 2k-1} \frac{(-\varphi_{\eta}^{(j)})^{\alpha}}{\alpha! (|\alpha|+1)} L_{\alpha}^{(j)} \right) L_{\beta}^{(j)} \right]^{k}, \qquad (3.30b)$$

where $\boldsymbol{\alpha} \in \mathbb{N}^d$, $|\boldsymbol{\alpha}| = \sum_{j=1}^d \alpha_j$ and $(-\varphi_{\eta}^{(j)})^{\alpha} := (-1)^{|\boldsymbol{\alpha}|} (\varphi_{\eta_1}^{(j)})^{\alpha_1} \dots (\varphi_{\eta_d}^{(j)})^{\alpha_d}$. The operator (3.30b) is well defined, because the differential operators $L_{\alpha}^{(j)}$ commute [17, Lemma A.2]. Furthermore, the operators $\mathfrak{S}_{-k}^{(j)}$ are invariant under change of local coordinates x and y.

Remark 3.9. Let $f: \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^d$, $x \mapsto \widetilde{x}$, be a (locally) invertible map. Then the operators

$$\widetilde{L}_{\alpha} := [(\nabla_x f)^{-1}]_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\beta}}$$

are the pushforward of partial derivatives $\partial/\partial \widetilde{x}^{\alpha}$ along f^{-1} . Hence, the operators \widetilde{L}_{α} commute because the partial derivatives $\partial/\partial \widetilde{x}^{\alpha}$ commute. An adjustment of the above argument to our setting with $f=\varphi_{\eta}^{(j)}$ (and with account of the fact that $\varphi^{(j)}$ is complex-valued) provides an alternative explanation for the commutation of the operators $L_{\alpha}^{(j)}$.

 $^{^3}$ Here $(\varphi_{x\eta}^{(j)})^{-1}$ is defined in accordance with $[(\varphi_{x\eta}^{(j)})^{-1}]_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}\,\varphi_{x^{\beta}\eta_{\gamma}}^{(j)}=\delta_{\alpha}{}^{\gamma}.$

The amplitude-to-symbol operator is defined as

$$\mathfrak{S}^{(j)}: C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R} \times M \times T'M) \to C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R} \times T'M),$$

$$\mathfrak{S}^{(j)}:=\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \mathfrak{S}^{(j)}_{-k}.$$
(3.31)

When acting on a function positively homogeneous in momentum, the operator $\mathfrak{S}_{-k}^{(j)}$ excludes the dependence on x and decreases the degree of homogeneity by k.

The reduction of the amplitude is achieved by replacing the amplitude $a^{(j)}$ in (3.29) by

$$\mathfrak{S}^{(j)}a^{(j)} =: \mathfrak{b}^{(j)}.$$

with

$$\mathfrak{b}^{(j)}(t;y,\eta) \sim \sum_{k=-1}^{+\infty} \mathfrak{b}_{-k}^{(j)}(t;y,\eta) \,, \qquad \mathfrak{b}_{-k}^{(j)} = \sum_{l+s=k} \mathfrak{S}_{-l}^{(j)} \, a_{-s}^{(j)} \,.$$

The oscillatory integral

$$\frac{1}{(2\pi)^d} \int_{T'M} e^{i\varphi^{(j)}(t,x;y,\eta)} \, \mathfrak{b}^{(j)}(t;y,\eta) \, w^{(j)}(t,x;y,\eta) \, d\eta$$

differs from (3.29) only by an infinitely smooth function.

We refer the reader to [17, Appendix A] for further particulars and detailed proofs concerning the amplitude-to-symbol operator.

Step 4. Set

$$\mathfrak{b}_{k}^{(j)} = 0, \qquad k = -1, 0, 1, \dots$$
 (3.32)

Equations (3.32), combined with the initial conditions stemming from the constraint

$$\sum_{i} U^{(j)}(0) \stackrel{\text{mod}}{=}^{\Psi^{-\infty}} \text{Id}, \tag{3.33}$$

yield a hierarchy of (matrix) transport equations for the homogeneous components $\mathfrak{a}_{-k}^{(j)}$.

Remark 3.10. For the special case of the massless Dirac operator, the first few equations in the hierarchy (3.32) are given by (5.9)–(5.13).

Let us make a few remarks warranted by formula (3.33).

The m oscillatory integrals appearing on the RHS of (3.8) and (3.9) are not independent of one another, but they 'mix' at t=0 via the initial condition (3.33). Now, satisfying (3.33) involves representing the identity operator on $C^{\infty}(M; \mathbb{C}^m)$ in a somewhat nonstandard fashion, as

Id
$$\stackrel{\text{mod}}{=}^{\Psi^{-\infty}} \sum_{j} \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int_{T'M} e^{i\varphi^{(j)}(0,x;y,\eta)} \mathfrak{s}^{(j)}(y,\eta)$$

 $\chi^{(j)}(0,x;y,\eta) w^{(j)}(0,x;y,\eta) (\cdot) \rho(y) dy d\eta,$ (3.34)

with $\mathfrak{s}^{(j)} \in S^0_{\mathrm{ph}}(T'M; \mathrm{Mat}(m; \mathbb{C})).$

In terms of the symbols $\mathfrak{a}^{(j)}$, the initial condition (3.33) reads

$$\mathfrak{a}^{(j)}(0;y,\eta)=\mathfrak{s}^{(j)}(y,\eta).$$

From the fact that the principal symbol of the identity operator is the identity matrix it follows that

$$\sum_{j} \mathfrak{a}_{0}^{(j)}(0; y, \eta) = \sum_{j} \mathfrak{s}_{0}^{(j)}(y, \eta) = \mathbf{1}_{m \times m}.$$
 (3.35)

Furthermore, one can show that

$$\mathfrak{s}_0^{(j)}(y,\eta) = v^{(j)}(y,\eta) [v^{(j)}(y,\eta)]^*.$$

However, obtaining formulae for subleading components $\mathfrak{s}_{-1}^{(j)}$ is already a challenging task, see [23, Sect. 4.2]. In general, lower order components of $\mathfrak{s}^{(j)}$ depend in a nontrivial manner on the eigenvalues and eigenprojections of the matrix-function $A_{\text{prin}}(x,\xi)$ and on the choice of phase functions $\varphi^{(j)}$.

The invariant representation of the identity operator—and, more generally, of pseudodifferential operators—on manifolds is not a well-studied subject. An initial analysis of the scalar case was carried out in [17, Sect. 6]. For the case of the Dirac operator a more detailed examination of (3.34) will be provided in Sect. 5.2. A more extensive analysis of (3.34) for a general operator A is carried out in [15, 20, 21].

Remark 3.11. All statements and results presented in this section carry over verbatim to the case where A is an elliptic symmetric first order $m \times m$ matrix pseudodifferential—as opposed to differential—operator, with the following exceptions:

- formulae (3.1) and (3.2) have to be dropped as they are no longer true;
- 'Step 2.' in Sect. 3.3 has to be modified to take into account the action of a pseudodifferential operator on an oscillatory integral in an *invariant* manner, along the lines of [11, Sect. 4.3].

Remark 3.12. Let us point out that in this section we did not use anywhere the fact that M carries a Riemannian structure. If one replaces the Riemannian density (1.1) with an arbitrary positive density, all statements and results stay the same.

4. Invariant Description of Pseudodifferential Operators Acting on Scalar Functions

In order to prepare ourselves to address the issue of initial conditions for our transport equations in the case of the Dirac operator, we need to discuss first the more general question of invariant representation of a pseudodifferential operator. We devote a separate section to this, as we believe this matter to be of independent interest. Note that we treat the case of a scalar operator merely for the sake of presentational convenience: all the formulae and arguments in this subsection remain unchanged for matrix pseudodifferential operators acting on m-columns of scalar functions.

Definition 4.1. We call time-independent Levi-Civita phase function the function $\phi \in C^{\infty}(M \times T'M; \mathbb{C})$ defined by

$$\phi(x; y, \eta) := \int_{\gamma} \zeta \, dz + \frac{i\epsilon}{2} h(y, \eta) \left[\operatorname{dist}(x, y) \right]^2 \tag{4.1}$$

when x lies in a geodesic neighbourhood of y and continued smoothly elsewhere in such a way that $\operatorname{Im} \phi \geq 0$. Here γ is the (unique) shortest geodesic connecting y to x, ζ is the parallel transport of η along γ ,

$$h(y,\eta) := \sqrt{g^{\alpha\beta}(y)\,\eta_{\alpha}\eta_{\beta}}\,,\tag{4.2}$$

dist is the geodesic distance and ϵ is a positive parameter.

Let P be a pseudodifferential operator of order p acting on scalar functions over a Riemannian d-manifold. The operator P can be written, modulo an integral operator with smooth kernel, in the form

$$P = \int_{T'M} e^{i\phi(x;y,\eta)} \, \mathfrak{p}(y,\eta) \, \chi_0(x;y,\eta) \, w_0(x;y,\eta) \, (\cdot) \, \rho(y) \, dy \, d\eta, \quad (4.3)$$

where ϕ is the time-independent Levi-Civita phase function, $\mathfrak{p} \in S^m_{\rm ph}(T'M)$, χ_0 is a cut-off localising integration to a neighbourhood of the diagonal and away from the zero section (see also (I)–(III) in Theorem 3.2) and

$$w_0(x; y, \eta) := \left[\rho(x) \, \rho(y)\right]^{-\frac{1}{2}} \left[\det^2 \phi_{x^{\alpha} \eta_{\beta}}(x; y, \eta) \right]^{\frac{1}{4}}. \tag{4.4}$$

Here the smooth branch of the complex root is chosen in such a way that $w_0(y; y, \eta) = [\rho(y)]^{-1}$.

Remark 4.2. Note that (4.3) is, effectively, a special case of (3.10) with t = 0.

Formula (4.3) provides an invariant representation of the pseudodifferential operator P.

Definition 4.3. We call full symbol of the operator P the scalar function

$$\mathfrak{p}(y,\eta) \sim \sum_{k=-n}^{+\infty} \mathfrak{p}_{-k}(y,\eta).$$

Furthermore, we call the homogeneous functions \mathfrak{p}_p and \mathfrak{p}_{p-1} the *g-principal* and *g-subprincipal* symbol, respectively.⁴

The notions of principal and subprincipal symbols of a pseudodifferential operator are nowadays standard concepts in microlocal analysis. The former makes sense for operators acting either on scalar functions or on half-densities, whereas the latter is only defined for operators acting on half-densities. We refer the reader to [33] for further details. Note that the concept of subprincipal symbol was introduced by Duistermaat and Hörmander in [27, Eqn. (5.2.8)].

It is easy to see that the concept of principal symbol P_{prin} and that of g-principal symbol \mathfrak{p}_p coincide. As far as the subprincipal symbol is concerned,

⁴Here 'g' is a reference to the Riemannian metric used in the construction of the phase function ϕ .

the situation is more complicated, in that before drawing a comparison we need to turn our operator into an operator acting on half-densities.

Put

$$P_{1/2} := \rho^{1/2} P \rho^{-1/2} \tag{4.5}$$

and let P_{sub} be the subprincipal symbol of the operator (4.5) defined in accordance with [27, Eqn. (5.2.8)].

A natural question to ask is: what is the relation between P_{sub} and \mathfrak{p}_{p-1} ?

Theorem 4.4. The invariant quantities P_{sub} and \mathfrak{p}_{p-1} are related as

$$\mathfrak{p}_{p-1} = P_{\text{sub}} + \frac{i}{2} (P_{\text{prin}})_{y^{\alpha} \eta_{\alpha}} + \frac{i}{2} \Gamma^{\alpha}{}_{\beta \gamma} \left[\eta_{\alpha} (P_{\text{prin}})_{\eta_{\beta}} \right]_{\eta_{\gamma}} - \frac{\epsilon}{2} g_{\beta \gamma} \left[h \left(P_{\text{prin}} \right)_{\eta_{\beta}} \right]_{\eta_{\gamma}}. \tag{4.6}$$

Theorem 4.4 implies that, in particular, the two notions of subprincipal symbol coincide when the principal symbol does not depend on η , i.e. when P is a pseudodifferential operator of the type "multiplication by a scalar function plus an operator of order -1". Note that the identity operator, whose invariant representation was investigated in [17, Sect. 6], falls into this class.

Remark 4.5. A tedious, yet straightforward, calculation shows that the RHS of (4.6) is a scalar function on the cotangent bundle. In fact, the second and third summands on the RHS of (4.6) admit an invariant representation in terms of the Laplace–Beltrami operator associated with the neutral metric n on the cotangent bundle T^*M , which, in local coordinates $(x^1, \ldots, x^d, \xi_1, \ldots, \xi_d)$, reads

$$n_{jk}(x,\xi) = \begin{pmatrix} -2\xi_{\gamma} \Gamma^{\gamma}{}_{\alpha\beta}(x) \delta_{\alpha}{}^{\mu} \\ \delta^{\nu}{}_{\beta} & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad j,k \in \{1,\dots,2d\}.$$
 (4.7)

The adjective 'neutral' refers to the fact that the metric n has signature (d, d). It turns out that the neutral metric is an effective tool in the development of an invariant theory of pseudodifferential operators on Riemannian manifolds. As the analysis of this matter requires a lengthy discussion and would take us away from the core subject of our paper, we plan to address it in detail elsewhere. See also [46].

Proof of Theorem 4.4. Consider the pseudodifferential operator P and turn it into an operator on half-densities $P_{1/2}$ via (4.5). In what follows we work in an arbitrary coordinate system, the same for x and y.

Dropping the cut-off, the integral kernel of $P_{1/2}$ now reads

$$\frac{1}{(2\pi)^d} \int_{T'_{\cdot}M} e^{i\phi(x;y,\eta)} \, \mathfrak{p}(y,\eta) \, \sqrt{\det \phi_{x\eta}} \, d\eta \, . \tag{4.8}$$

Our phase function (4.1) admits the expansion

$$\phi(x;y,\eta) = (x-y)^{\alpha} \eta_{\alpha} + \frac{1}{2} \Gamma^{\alpha}{}_{\beta\gamma} \eta_{\alpha} (x-y)^{\beta} (x-y)^{\gamma}$$

$$+ \frac{i\epsilon h}{2} g_{\alpha\beta} (x-y)^{\alpha} (x-y)^{\beta} + O(\|x-y\|^3),$$

$$(4.9)$$

which implies that

$$\sqrt{\det \phi_{x\eta}} = 1 + \frac{1}{2} [\Gamma^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha\beta} + i\epsilon h^{-1} \eta_{\beta}] (x - y)^{\beta} + O(\|x - y\|^2).$$
 (4.10)

Substituting (4.9) and (4.10) into (4.8), we get

$$\frac{1}{(2\pi)^d} \int e^{i(x-y)^{\alpha}\eta_{\alpha}} \left\{ \mathfrak{p}_p + \left(\frac{1}{2} \left[i\Gamma^{\alpha}{}_{\beta\gamma} \eta_{\alpha} - \epsilon h g_{\beta\gamma} \right] (x-y)^{\beta} (x-y)^{\gamma} \right. \right. \\
\left. + \frac{1}{2} \left[\Gamma^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha\beta} + i\epsilon h^{-1} \eta_{\beta} \right] (x-y)^{\beta} \right) \mathfrak{p}_p + \mathfrak{p}_{p-1} + O(\|\eta\|^{p-2}) \right\} d\eta \,. \tag{4.11}$$

Excluding the x-dependence from the amplitude in (4.11) by acting with the operator

$$S_{\text{right}}(\cdot) := \left[\exp \left(i \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x^{\mu} \, \partial \eta_{\mu}} \right) (\cdot) \right] \Big|_{x=y}, \tag{4.12}$$

we arrive at

$$\begin{split} &\frac{1}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int e^{i(x-y)^{\alpha}\eta_{\alpha}} \Big\{ \mathfrak{p}_{p} - \frac{i}{2} \left[\eta_{\alpha} \Gamma^{\alpha}{}_{\beta\gamma} \left(\mathfrak{p}_{p} \right)_{\eta_{\beta}} \right]_{\eta_{\gamma}} + \frac{\epsilon}{2} \left[h \, g_{\gamma\beta} \left(\mathfrak{p}_{p} \right)_{\eta_{\beta}} \right]_{\eta_{\gamma}} \\ &+ \mathfrak{p}_{p-1} + O(\|\eta\|^{p-2}) \Big\} \, d\eta \, . \end{split} \tag{4.13}$$

Computing the subprincipal symbol of (4.13) and using the fact that $\mathfrak{p}_p = P_{\text{prin}} = (P_{1/2})_{\text{prin}}$, we obtain (4.6). Note that the sign in front of the correction term

$$\frac{i}{2}(P_{\text{prin}})_{y^{\alpha}\eta_{\alpha}}$$

is opposite to the usual one, see, for example, [19, Eqn. (A.3)]. This is due to the fact that in this paper we use the right—as opposed to left—quantization. \Box

5. Global Propagator for the Dirac Operator

In this section we will start the analysis of the global propagator for the Dirac operator, specialising Theorem 3.3 to the case A = W.

We denote by

$$W_{\text{prin}}(y,\eta) := \sigma^{\alpha}(y) \,\eta_{\alpha} \tag{5.1}$$

the principal symbol of W and by

$$W_0(x) := -\frac{i}{4}\sigma^{\alpha}(x)\sigma_{\beta}(x) \left(\frac{\partial \sigma^{\beta}}{\partial x^{\alpha}}(x) + \Gamma^{\beta}{}_{\alpha\gamma}(x) \sigma^{\gamma}(x) \right)$$
 (5.2)

its zero order part, see Definition 1.1.

The principal symbol $W_{\text{prin}}(y,\eta)$ has eigenvalues $h^{\pm}=\pm h$, where h is given by (4.2), compare with (3.2). This fact, which can be easily established by writing down (5.1) in local coordinates, shows that the Dirac operator is indeed elliptic.

It is well-known that the Hamiltonian flow $(x^+(t;y,\eta),\xi^+(t;y,\eta))$ generated by h is (co-)geodesic. The two flows $(x^\pm(t;y,\eta),\xi^\pm(t;y,\eta))$ are related as

$$(x^{-}(t;y,\eta),\xi^{-}(t;y,\eta)) = (x^{+}(t;y,-\eta),-\xi^{+}(t;y,-\eta)).$$
 (5.3)

Our goal is to write down explicitly the positive and negative propagators (1.12a) and (1.12c) in the form (3.10) for a distinguished choice of phase functions.

To this end, we give the following definition (see also [17, Sect. 4]).

Definition 5.1. We call positive (+), resp. negative (-), Levi-Civita phase function the infinitely smooth function $\varphi^{\pm} \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R} \times M \times T'M; \mathbb{C})$ defined by

$$\varphi^{\pm}(t,x;y,\eta) = \int_{\gamma^{\pm}} \zeta^{\pm} dz + \frac{i \epsilon}{2} h(y,\eta) \operatorname{dist}^{2}(x,x^{\pm}(t;y,\eta))$$
 (5.4)

for x in a geodesic neighbourhood of $x^{\pm}(t;y,\eta)$ and continued smoothly elsewhere in such a way that $\operatorname{Im} \varphi^{\pm} \geq 0$. Here dist is the Riemannian geodesic distance, the path of integration γ^{\pm} is the shortest geodesic connecting x^{\pm} to x, ζ^{\pm} is the result of parallel transport of $\xi^{\pm}(t;y,\eta)$ along γ^{\pm} and ϵ is a positive parameter.

The positive and negative Levi-Civita phase functions are related as

$$\varphi^{-}(t, x; y, \eta) = -\overline{\varphi^{+}(t, x; y, -\eta)}.$$
(5.5)

Let us point out that the way one continues φ^{\pm} outside a neighbourhood of the flow does not affect the singular part of the propagators. The choice of a different smooth continuation results in an error $\stackrel{\text{mod}}{=}^{\Psi^{-\infty}} 0$, as one can show by a straightforward (non)stationary phase argument.

Remark 5.2. The time-independent phase function ϕ introduced in the previous section is the restriction to t=0 of the phase functions φ^{\pm} ,

$$\phi(x; y, \eta) = \varphi^{+}(0, x; y, \eta) = \varphi^{-}(0, x; y, \eta).$$
 (5.6)

It is easy to see that the positive and negative Levi-Civita phase functions satisfy conditions (i), (ii) and (iv) from Theorem 3.3. Furthermore, [45, Corollary 2.4.5] implies that condition (iii) is also satisfied. Hence, Theorem 3.3 ensures that the integral kernel of U^{\pm} can be written as a single oscillatory integral

$$u^{\pm}(t, x, y) := \frac{1}{(2\pi)^3} \int_{T'_y M} e^{i\varphi^{\pm}(t, x; y, \eta)} \, \mathfrak{a}^{\pm}(t; y, \eta)$$

$$\chi^{\pm}(t, x; y, \eta) \, w^{\pm}(t, x; y, \eta) \, d\eta, \tag{5.7}$$

where φ^{\pm} is the positive/negative Levi-Civita phase function.

30

Definition 5.3. We define the full symbol of the positive (resp. negative) propagator to be the scalar matrix-function \mathfrak{a}^+ (resp. \mathfrak{a}^-), obtained through the algorithm described in Sect. 3.3 with Levi-Civita phase functions.

We define the subprincipal symbol of the positive (resp. negative) propagator to be the scalar matrix-function \mathfrak{a}_{-1}^+ (resp. \mathfrak{a}_{-1}^-) obtained the same way.

As to the principal symbol, this object was defined earlier, see Definition 3.8.

We stress that the mathematical objects contained in the above definition are uniquely and invariantly defined. They only depend on the phase functions which, in turn, originate from the geometry of M in a coordinatefree covariant manner, cf. Definition 5.1.

To the best of our knowledge, there is no accepted definition of full symbol or subprincipal symbol for a Fourier integral operator available in the literature to date. The geometric nature of our construction allows us to provide invariant definitions of full and subprincipal symbol of the Dirac propagator, analyse them, and give explicit formulae. This paper, alongside [17], aims to build towards an invariant theory for pseudodifferential and Fourier integral operators on manifolds.

Before moving on to computing the principal and subprincipal symbols of the positive (resp. negative) Dirac propagator, an important remark is in order. In addition to what was discussed in Sect. 3 for the general case, the construction of the Dirac propagator has to be consistent with the gauge transformation (1.5), (1.6). In particular, the action of the gauge transformation needs to be carefully accounted for by the construction process.

The transformation (1.6) leads to the transformation

$$\mathfrak{a}^{\pm}(t;y,\eta) \mapsto G^*(x) \,\mathfrak{a}^{\pm}(t;y,\eta) \,G(y).$$

in the oscillatory integral (5.7). Note that this introduces an x-dependence which has to be handled by means of amplitude-to-symbol reduction (3.31).

5.1. Transport Equations

By acting with the Dirac operator W on (5.7) in the variable x and dropping the cut-off, we obtain

$$Wu^{\pm}(t,x,y) = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^3} \int_{T'_{\nu}M} e^{i\varphi^{\pm}(t,x;y,\eta)} a^{\pm}(t;y,\eta) w^{\pm}(t,x;y,\eta) d\eta,$$

where

$$\begin{split} a &= -ie^{-i\varphi^\pm}(w^\pm)^{-1}\partial_t \left(e^{i\varphi^\pm} \ \mathfrak{a}^\pm \ w^\pm\right) \\ &\quad + \left[-ie^{-i\varphi^\pm}(w^\pm)^{-1}\sigma^\alpha\partial_{x^\alpha} \left(e^{i\varphi^\pm} \ w^\pm\right) + W_0\right]\mathfrak{a}^\pm \\ &= \left(\varphi_t^\pm + \sigma^\alpha\varphi_{x^\alpha}^\pm\right)\mathfrak{a}^\pm - i\mathfrak{a}_t^\pm + \left[-i(w^\pm)^{-1} \left(w_t^\pm + \sigma^\alpha w_{x^\alpha}^\pm\right) + W_0\right]\mathfrak{a}^\pm. \end{split}$$

Put

$$a \sim \sum_{k=-1}^{+\infty} a_{-k},\tag{5.8}$$

where

$$a_1^{\pm} := \left(\varphi_t^{\pm} + W_{\text{prin}}(x, \varphi_x^{\pm})\right) \mathfrak{a}_0^{\pm} \tag{5.9}$$

and

$$a_{-k}^{\pm} := \left(\varphi_t^{\pm} + W_{\text{prin}}(x, \varphi_x^{\pm})\right) \mathfrak{a}_{-k-1}^{\pm} - i(\mathfrak{a}_{-k}^{\pm})_t + \left[-i(w^{\pm})^{-1} \left(w_t^{\pm} + \sigma^{\alpha} w_{x^{\alpha}}^{\pm}\right) + W_0\right] \mathfrak{a}_{-k}^{\pm}$$
 (5.10)

for $k \geq 0$. Note that the $a_{-k}^{\pm}, \, k \geq -1$, are positively homogeneous in momentum of degree -k.

Our transport equations read

$$\mathfrak{S}_0^{\pm} a_1^{\pm} = 0, \tag{5.11}$$

$$\mathfrak{S}_{-1}^{\pm} a_1^{\pm} + \mathfrak{S}_0^{\pm} a_0^{\pm} = 0, \tag{5.12}$$

$$\mathfrak{S}_{-2}^{\pm} a_1^{\pm} + \mathfrak{S}_{-1}^{\pm} a_0^{\pm} + \mathfrak{S}_0^{\pm} a_{-1}^{\pm} = 0, \tag{5.13}$$

. .

Recalling that v^{\pm} are the normalised eigenvectors of $W_{\rm prin}$ corresponding to the eigenvalues $\pm h$, denote by

$$P^{\pm}(y,\eta) := v^{\pm}(y,\eta) \left[v^{\pm}(y,\eta) \right]^* \tag{5.14}$$

the spectral projections along the eigenspaces spanned by v^{\pm} . Of course,

$$W_{\text{prin}} = h \left(P^+ - P^- \right), \tag{5.15}$$

$$Id = P^{+} + P^{-}, (5.16)$$

and

$$P^{\pm} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\operatorname{Id} \pm \frac{W_{\text{prin}}}{h} \right). \tag{5.17}$$

Let us label the transport equations with nonnegative integer numbers in increasing order, so that (5.11) is the zeroth transport equation, (5.12) is the first transport equation and so on. Direct inspection of (5.9) and (5.10) reveals that

• multiplication of the *n*-th transport equation by $P^{\mp}(x^{\pm}, \xi^{\pm})$ on the left allows one to determine

$$P^{\mp}(x^{\pm}, \xi^{\pm})\mathfrak{a}_{-n}^{\pm}(t; y, \eta), \qquad n \ge 0,$$
 (5.18)

algebraically;

• multiplication of the (n+1)-th transport equation by $P^{\pm}(x^{\pm}, \xi^{\pm})$ on the left and the use of (5.18) allows one to determine

$$P^{\pm}(x^{\pm}, \xi^{\pm})\mathfrak{a}_{-n}^{\pm}(t; y, \eta), \qquad n \ge 0,$$
 (5.19)

upon solving a matrix ordinary differential equation in the variable t.

Summing up (5.18) and (5.19) one obtains $\mathfrak{a}_{-k}^{\pm}(t;y,\eta)$, in view of (5.16).

5.2. Pseudodifferential Operators $U^{\pm}(0)$

This subsection is devoted to the examination of operators $U^{\pm}(0)$. We need to examine these operators because, as explained in Sect. 3.3, their full symbols determine the initial conditions $\mathfrak{a}_{-k}^{\pm}(0;y,\eta)$ for our transport equations.

We have

$$U^{\pm}(0) = \theta(\pm W), \tag{5.20}$$

where

$$\theta(\lambda) := \begin{cases} 1 & \text{for } \lambda > 0, \\ 0 & \text{for } \lambda \le 0. \end{cases}$$

We see that the operators $U^{\pm}(0)$ are self-adjoint pseudodifferential operators of order zero, orthogonal projections onto the positive/negative eigenspaces of the operator W. The operator $\mathrm{Id}-U^+(0)-U^-(0)$ is the orthogonal projection onto the nullspace of the operator W, hence

$$U^+(0) + U^-(0) \stackrel{\operatorname{mod}}{=}^{\Psi^{-\infty}} \operatorname{Id}.$$

The principal symbols of the operators $U^{\pm}(0)$ read

$$[U^{\pm}(0)]_{\text{prin}} = P^{\pm}(y, \eta),$$
 (5.21)

where P^{\pm} are the orthogonal projections onto the positive/negative eigenspaces of the principal symbol of the operator W, see (5.14).

The analysis of the *full* symbol of $U^{\pm}(0)$ is a delicate task which was investigated, to a certain extent and in a somewhat different setting, in [23]. In order to develop the ideas from [23] we have to address a number of issues.

- We are now dealing with scalar fields as opposed to half-densities.
- We are now making full use of Riemannian structure.
- We are now working in the special setting of a system of two equations in dimension three with trace-free principal symbol.
- Unlike [23,24], we are aiming to evaluate the actual matrix-functions $[U^{\pm}(0)]_{\text{sub}}$ and not only their traces.

In order to calculate the subprincipal symbols of the pseudodifferential operators $U^{\pm}(0)$ we will need the following auxiliary result.

Theorem 5.4. Fix a point $y \in M$ and let $\{\tilde{e}\}_{j=1}^3$ be a framing on M. Let $G \in C^{\infty}(M; SU(2))$ be a gauge transformation such that $G(y) = \operatorname{Id}$ and let

$$e_j^{\alpha} := \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{tr}(s_j G^* s^k G) \widetilde{e}_k^{\alpha}. \tag{5.22}$$

Then

$$\nabla_{\alpha}G(y) = -\frac{i}{2} \left[\overset{*}{K}_{\alpha\beta}(y) - \overset{*}{\widetilde{K}}_{\alpha\beta}(y) \right] \sigma^{\beta}(y), \tag{5.23}$$

where K (resp. \widetilde{K}) is the contorsion tensor of the Weitzenböck connection (see Appendix A) associated with the framing $\{e_j\}_{j=1}^3$ (resp. $\{\widetilde{e}_j\}_{j=1}^3$), the star stands for the Hodge dual applied in the first and third indices, see formula (A.7), and $\sigma^{\alpha}(y)$ is defined by (1.3).

Proof. The proof is provided in Appendix B.1.

Remark 5.5. Let $\{\widetilde{e}\}_{j=1}^3$ and $\{e\}_{j=1}^3$ be a pair of framings related in accordance with (5.22), and let \widetilde{W} and W be the corresponding Dirac operators, see Definition 1.1. Then

$$W = G^* \widetilde{W} G. (5.24)$$

The following theorem is the main result of this subsection.

Theorem 5.6. We have

$$[U^{\pm}(0)]_{\text{sub}}(y,\eta) = \pm \frac{1}{4(h(y,\eta))^3} T^{\alpha\beta}(y) \eta_{\alpha} \eta_{\beta} \text{ Id}, \qquad (5.25)$$

where T is the torsion tensor of the Weitzenböck connection (see Appendix A) associated with the framing $\{e_j\}_{j=1}^3$ encoded within the Dirac operator W (see Definition 1.1) and the star stands for the Hodge dual applied in the second and third indices, see formula (A.6).

Proof. Let us fix a point $y \in M$ and choose normal geodesic coordinates x centred at y such that $e_j{}^{\alpha}(y) = \delta_j{}^{\alpha}$. Consider the (local) operator with constant coefficients

$$\widetilde{W} := -is^{\alpha} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\alpha}} \,, \tag{5.26}$$

where the s^{α} are the standard Pauli matrices (1.2). Let us choose a smooth special unitary 2×2 matrix-function G such that

$$G(0) = \text{Id},$$

 $[W]_{\text{prin}} = [G^*\widetilde{W}G]_{\text{prin}} + O(\|\eta\| \|x\|^2),$

compare with (5.24). It is easy to see that such a matrix-function G(x) exists and is defined uniquely modulo $O(||x||^2)$.

Let us now compare the subprincipal symbols of the pseudodifferential operators $\theta(\pm W)$ and $\theta(\pm G^*\widetilde{W}G)$, with $G^*\widetilde{W}G$ understood as an operator acting in Euclidean space (constant metric tensor $g_{\alpha\beta}(x) = \delta_{\alpha\beta}$). It can be shown that at the origin we have

$$[W]_{\mathrm{sub}}(0,\eta) = [G^*\widetilde{W}G]_{\mathrm{sub}}(0,\eta).$$

Thus, the proof of the Theorem 5.6 has been reduced to the case when we are in Euclidean space and the operator W is given by formulae (5.24) and (5.26).

We have

$$\theta(\pm \widetilde{W}) = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^3} \int_{T'\mathbb{R}^3} e^{i(x-z)^\alpha \eta_\alpha} P^{\pm}(\eta) (\cdot) dz d\eta, \qquad (5.27)$$

where

$$P^{\pm}(\eta) = \frac{1}{2} \left(\operatorname{Id} \pm \frac{1}{\|\eta\|} s^{\beta} \eta_{\beta} \right). \tag{5.28}$$

Formulae (5.27) and (5.28) imply that

$$\theta(\pm G^*\widetilde{W}G) = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^3} \int_{T'\mathbb{D}^3} e^{i(x-z)^\alpha \eta_\alpha} Q^{\pm}(x,z,\eta) (\cdot) dz d\eta,$$

where

$$Q^{\pm}(x, z, \eta) = G^{*}(x) P^{\pm}(\eta) G(z) = \frac{1}{2} G^{*}(x) \left(\operatorname{Id} \pm \frac{1}{\|\eta\|} s^{\beta} \eta_{\beta} \right) G(z).$$

M. Capoferri, D. Vassiliev

Excluding the z-dependence from the amplitude Q^{\pm} by acting with the operator

$$S_{\text{left}}(\cdot) := \left[\exp\left(-i \frac{\partial^2}{\partial z^{\mu} \, \partial \eta_{\mu}} \right) (\cdot) \right] \Big|_{z=x},$$

compare with (4.12), we arrive

$$\theta(\pm G^*\widetilde{W}G) = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^3} \int_{T'\mathbb{R}^3} e^{i(x-z)^\alpha \eta_\alpha} \, \mathcal{Q}^{\pm}(x,\eta) \, (\,\cdot\,) \, dz \, d\eta \,,$$

where

$$Q^{\pm}(x,\eta) = Q_0^{\pm}(x,\eta) + Q_{-1}^{\pm}(x,\eta) + O(\|\eta\|^{-2}),$$
 (5.29)

$$Q_0^{\pm}(x,\eta) = \frac{1}{2} G^*(x) \left(\text{Id} \pm \frac{1}{\|\eta\|} s^{\beta} \eta_{\beta} \right) G(x) , \qquad (5.30)$$

$$Q_{-1}^{\pm}(x,\eta) = -\frac{i}{2} G^{*}(x) \left(\operatorname{Id} \pm \frac{1}{\|\eta\|} s^{\beta} \eta_{\beta} \right)_{\eta_{\mu}} G_{x^{\mu}}(x) . \tag{5.31}$$

In the Euclidean setting the standard formula [27, Eqn. (5.2.8)] for the subprincipal symbol reads

$$[\theta(\pm G^*\widetilde{W}G)]_{\text{sub}} = Q_{-1}^{\pm} + \frac{i}{2}(Q_0^{\pm})_{x^{\mu}\eta_{\mu}}.$$
 (5.32)

Substituting (5.30) and (5.31) into (5.32) and setting x = 0, we get

$$[\theta(\pm G^*\widetilde{W}G)]_{\text{sub}} = \pm \frac{i}{4} \left[G_{x^{\mu}}^* \left(\frac{1}{\|\eta\|} s^{\beta} \eta_{\beta} \right)_{\eta_{\mu}} - \left(\frac{1}{\|\eta\|} s^{\beta} \eta_{\beta} \right)_{\eta_{\mu}} G_{x^{\mu}} \right]$$

$$= \pm \frac{i(\delta_{\beta}^{\mu} \|\eta\|^2 - \eta_{\beta} \eta^{\mu})}{4\|\eta\|^3} \left[G_{x^{\mu}}^* s^{\beta} - s^{\beta} G_{x^{\mu}} \right]. \tag{5.33}$$

Theorem 5.4 tells us that $G_{x^{\mu}} = \frac{i}{2} \tilde{K}_{\mu\nu} s^{\nu}$. Substituting this into (5.33), and using standard properties of Pauli matrices and (A.10), we get

$$[\theta(\pm G^*\widetilde{W}G)]_{\text{sub}} = \pm \frac{\delta_{\beta}{}^{\mu} \|\eta\|^2 - \eta_{\beta} \eta^{\mu}}{8\|\eta\|^3} \left[s^{\nu} s^{\beta} + s^{\beta} s^{\nu} \right] \overset{*}{K}_{\mu\nu}$$
$$= \pm \frac{1}{4\|\eta\|^3} \left(\overset{*}{K}{}^{\gamma}{}_{\gamma} \delta_{\mu\nu} - \overset{*}{K}_{\mu\nu} \right) \eta^{\mu} \eta^{\nu} \text{ Id}$$
$$= \pm \frac{1}{4\|\eta\|^3} \overset{*}{T}_{\mu\nu} \eta^{\mu} \eta^{\nu} \text{ Id} .$$

The above argument combined with (5.20) yields (5.25).

Observe that formula (5.25) implies

$$\operatorname{tr} [U^{\pm}(0)]_{\mathrm{sub}}(y,\eta) = \pm \frac{1}{2(h(y,\eta))^3} \stackrel{*}{T}^{\alpha\beta}(y) \eta_{\alpha} \eta_{\beta} ,$$

which agrees with [23, formula (1.20)] and [24, formula (4.1) with $\mathbf{c} = +1$].

6. Principal Symbol of the Global Dirac Propagator

In this section we provide an explicit geometric characterisation of the principal symbols of the positive and negative Dirac propagators.

Theorem 6.1. The principal symbols of the positive and negative Dirac propagators are

$$\mathfrak{a}_0^{\pm}(t; y, \eta) = \zeta^{\pm}(t; y, \eta) \left[v^{\pm}(y, \eta) \right]^*, \tag{6.1}$$

where $\zeta^{\pm}(t; y, \eta)$ is the parallel transport of $v^{\pm}(y, \eta)$ along x^{\pm} with respect to the spin connection, i.e.

$$\left(\frac{d}{dt} + [\dot{x}^{\pm}]^{\alpha} \frac{1}{4} \sigma_{\beta} \left(\frac{\partial \sigma^{\beta}}{\partial x^{\alpha}} + \Gamma^{\beta}{}_{\alpha\gamma} \sigma^{\gamma}\right)\right) \zeta^{\pm} = 0, \qquad \zeta^{\pm}|_{t=0} = v^{\pm}.$$
(6.2)

Proof. It is known [43, Sect. 3.4], [44] that the principal symbols \mathfrak{a}_0^{\pm} are independent of the choice of the phase function and read

$$\mathfrak{a}_{0}^{\pm}(t;y,\eta) = v^{\pm}(x^{\pm},\xi^{\pm}) \left[v^{\pm}(y,\eta)\right]^{*} e^{-i\int_{0}^{t} q^{\pm}(x^{\pm}(\tau;y,\eta),\xi^{\pm}(\tau;y,\eta)) d\tau}, \quad (6.3)$$

where

$$q^{\pm} = [v^{\pm}]^* W_{\text{sub}} v^{\pm} - \frac{i}{2} \{ [v^{\pm}]^*, W_{\text{prin}} - h^{\pm}, v^{\pm} \} - i [v^{\pm}]^* \{ v^{\pm}, h^{\pm} \}, (6.4)$$

and

$$W_{\text{sub}}(y) := W_0(y) + \frac{i}{2}\sigma^{\alpha}(y)\Gamma^{\beta}{}_{\alpha\beta}(y) + \frac{i}{2}[W_{\text{prin}}(y,\eta)]_{y^{\alpha}\eta_{\alpha}}.$$
 (6.5)

In formula (6.4) curly brackets denote the Poisson bracket

$$\{B,C\} := B_{y^{\alpha}}C_{\eta_{\alpha}} - B_{\eta_{\alpha}}C_{y^{\alpha}}$$

and the generalised Poisson bracket

$$\{B, C, D\} := B_{y^{\alpha}} C D_{\eta_{\alpha}} - B_{\eta_{\alpha}} C D_{y^{\alpha}}$$

on matrix-functions on the cotangent bundle. In formula (6.5) the second term on the RHS is the result of switching to half-densities, see (4.5).

Introducing the shorthand $q^{\pm}(t) := q^{\pm}(x^{\pm}(t;y,\eta),\xi^{\pm}(t;y,\eta))$, the task at hand is to show that

$$\zeta^{\pm}(t; y, \eta) = e^{-i \int_0^t q^{\pm}(\tau) d\tau} v^{\pm}(x^{\pm}, \xi^{\pm}).$$

More explicitly, we need to show that

$$e^{i\int_0^t q^{\pm}(\tau) d\tau} \left(\frac{d}{dt} + [\dot{x}^{\pm}]^{\alpha} \frac{1}{4} \sigma_{\beta} \left(\frac{\partial \sigma^{\beta}}{\partial x^{\alpha}} + \Gamma^{\beta}{}_{\alpha\gamma} \sigma^{\gamma} \right) \right)$$

$$\times \left[e^{-i\int_0^t q^{\pm}(\tau) d\tau} v^{\pm}(x^{\pm}, \xi^{\pm}) \right] = 0,$$
(6.6)

where we premultiplied our expression by $e^{i\int_0^t q^{\pm}(\tau)\,d\tau}$ for the sake of convenience.

We shall prove (6.1) for \mathfrak{a}_0^+ , which corresponds to the upper choice of signs in (6.6). The proof for \mathfrak{a}_0^- is analogous.

Let us begin by computing

$$e^{i\int_0^t q^+(\tau)} \frac{d}{dt} \left(e^{-i\int_0^t q^+(\tau) d\tau} v^+(x^+, \xi^+) \right) = -iq^+(t) v^+ + v_{x\alpha}^+ [\dot{x}^+]^\alpha + v_{\xi\alpha}^+ [\dot{\xi}^+]_\alpha$$
$$= -iq^+(t) v^+ + \{v^+, h\}. \tag{6.7}$$

To this end, let us choose geodesic normal coordinates centred at $x^+(t; y, \eta) = 0$ and such that $[\xi^+(t; y, \eta)]_{\alpha} = \delta_{3\alpha}$. Furthermore, up to a global rigid rotation of the framing, we can assume that

$$e_j{}^{\alpha}(0) = \delta_j{}^{\alpha}.$$

In our special coordinate system we have

$$v^{+}(0,\xi^{+}) = \begin{pmatrix} 1\\0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad v^{-}(0,\xi^{+}) = \begin{pmatrix} 0\\1 \end{pmatrix},$$
 (6.8)

and we can expand our framing about $x^+ = 0$ as

$$\begin{pmatrix}
e_1^{1}(x) & e_1^{2}(x) & e_1^{3}(x) \\
e_2^{1}(x) & e_2^{2}(x) & e_2^{3}(x) \\
e_3^{1}(x) & e_3^{2}(x) & e_3^{3}(x)
\end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix}
1 & l^3(x) & -l^2(x) \\
-l^3(x) & 1 & l^1(x) \\
l^2(x) & -l^1(x) & 1
\end{pmatrix} + O(\|x\|^2) \quad \text{as } x \to 0, \tag{6.9}$$

where $l^k(x) = O(||x||), k = 1, 2, 3$

The fact that $([v^+]^*v^+)(x,\xi) = 1$ implies

$$\{[v^+]^*, P^+, v^+\}(0, \xi^+) = [v^+_{x^\alpha}]^* \, v^+ \, [v^+]^* \, v^+_{\xi^\alpha} - [v^+_{\xi_\alpha}]^* \, v^+ \, [v^+]^* \, v^+_{x^\alpha} = 0,$$

which, in turn, yields

$$\{[v^+]^*, W_{\text{prin}}, v^+\} = h\{[v^+]^*, 2P^+ - \text{Id}, v^+\} = -h\{[v^+]^*, v^+\}.$$
 (6.10)

A standard perturbation argument gives us

$$h\{[v^+]^*, v^+\}(0, \xi^+) = -\frac{i}{2} \left(\frac{\partial l^1}{\partial x^1} + \frac{\partial l^2}{\partial x^2} \right) \Big|_{x=0}$$
 (6.11)

and

$$\{v^+, h\}(0, \xi^+) = \frac{i}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ \frac{\partial l^1}{\partial x^3} + i \frac{\partial l^2}{\partial x^3} \end{pmatrix} \bigg|_{x=0} . \tag{6.12}$$

Furthermore, combining (6.9) with (1.3) and (6.5), we get

$$W_{\text{sub}}(0) = -\frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\partial l^1}{\partial x^1} + \frac{\partial l^2}{\partial x^2} + \frac{\partial l^3}{\partial x^3} \right) \Big|_{x=0} \text{ Id.}$$
 (6.13)

Substituting (6.8), (6.10) and (6.11)–(6.13) into (6.4), and then (6.4) and (6.12) into (6.7), we conclude that

$$e^{i\int_0^t q^+(\tau)} \frac{d}{dt} \left(e^{-i\int_0^t q^+(\tau) d\tau} v^+(x^+, \xi^+) \right)$$

$$= \frac{i}{2} \left(\frac{\partial l^3}{\partial x^3} \right) \bigg|_{x=0} + \frac{i}{2} \left(\frac{0}{\partial x^3} + i \frac{\partial l^2}{\partial x^3} \right) \bigg|_{x=0}.$$
(6.14)

Similarly, in our special coordinate system we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left[\dot{x}^{+}\right]^{\alpha} \frac{1}{4} \sigma_{\beta} \left(\frac{\partial \sigma^{\beta}}{\partial x^{\alpha}} + \Gamma^{\beta}{}_{\alpha\gamma} \sigma^{\gamma} \right) v^{+} \bigg|_{x=0, \ \xi=\xi^{+}} &= \frac{1}{4} \sigma_{\beta} \left(\frac{\partial \sigma^{\beta}}{\partial x^{3}} \right) \begin{pmatrix} 1\\0 \end{pmatrix} \bigg|_{x=0} \\ &= -\frac{i}{2} \left(\frac{\partial l^{3}}{\partial x^{3}} + i \frac{\partial l^{2}}{\partial x^{3}} \right) \bigg|_{x=0} \end{aligned}$$
(6.15)

Summing up (6.14) and (6.15) we arrive at (6.6).

7. Explicit Small Time Expansion of the Symbol

Even though the presence of gauge degrees of freedom represents an additional challenge in the analysis of the propagator, one can put this freedom to use and exploit it to obtain a small time expansion for the propagator.

Our strategy goes as follows.

- 1. Compute the principal and subprincipal symbols of the positive (resp. negative) propagator for a conveniently chosen framing;
- 2. Using the gauge transformation (1.7), (1.6), switch to an arbitrary framing with the same orientation;⁵
- 3. Express the final result in terms of geometric invariants.

7.1. Special Framing

Let us fix an arbitrary point $y \in M$ and let $V_j \in T_yM$, j = 1, 2, 3 be defined by

$$V_j := e_j(y).$$

Definition 7.1. (Levi-Civita framing) Let \mathcal{U} be a geodesic neighbourhood of y. For $x \in \mathcal{U}$, let $\tilde{e}_{j}^{\text{loc}}(x)$, j=1,2,3, be the parallel transport of V_{j} along the shortest geodesic connecting y to x. We define the Levi-Civita framing generated by $\{e_{j}\}_{j=1}^{3}$ at y to be the equivalence class of framings coinciding with $\{\tilde{e}_{j}^{\text{loc}}\}_{j=1}^{3}$ in a neighbourhood of y.

With slight abuse of notation, in the following we will identify the Levi-Civita framing with one of its representatives, denoted by $\{\tilde{e}_j\}_{j=1}^3$. The choice of a particular representative does not affect our results.

Using the Levi-Civita framing is especially convenient due to the following property.

Lemma 7.2. In normal coordinates centred at y, the Levi-Civita framing admits the following expansion:

⁵Recall that in our paper the orientation is prescribed from the beginning.

$$\widetilde{e}_{j}^{\alpha}(x) = e_{j}^{\alpha}(y) + \frac{1}{6}e_{j}^{\beta}(y) R^{\alpha}_{\mu\beta\nu}(y) x^{\mu}x^{\nu} + O(\|x\|^{3}), \qquad j = 1, 2, 3,$$
(7.1)

where R is the Riemann curvature tensor⁶.

Proof. In normal geodesic coordinates centred at y, the unique geodesic connecting y to x can be written as

$$\gamma^{\alpha}(t) = \frac{x^{\alpha}}{\|x\|_E} t, \tag{7.2}$$

where $\|\cdot\|_E$ is the Euclidean norm, so that $\gamma(\|x\|_E) = x$. Assuming t and $\|x\|_E$ to be small and of the same order, let us perform an expansion in powers of t of \tilde{e}_j .

The parallel transport equation defining the framing $\{\tilde{e}_j\}_{j=1}^3$ reads

$$\dot{\tilde{e}}_{j}^{\alpha}(\gamma(t)) = -\dot{\gamma}^{\beta}(t) \Gamma^{\alpha}{}_{\beta\mu}(\gamma(t)) \tilde{e}_{j}^{\mu}(\gamma(t)), \qquad j = 1, 2, 3. \tag{7.3}$$

Since $\tilde{e}_j(0) = V_j$ and $\Gamma(0) = 0$, at linear order in t we have $\dot{\tilde{e}}_j(\gamma(t)) = O(t)$, which implies

$$\widetilde{e}_i(\gamma(t)) = V_i + O(t^2). \tag{7.4}$$

Substituting (7.4) into (7.3), we get

$$\dot{\tilde{e}}_j^{\alpha}(\gamma(t)) = -\frac{x^{\beta} x^{\nu}}{\|x\|_F^2} \partial_{\nu} \Gamma^{\alpha}{}_{\beta\mu}(0) V_j^{\mu} t + O(t^2),$$

so that

$$\widetilde{e}_{j}^{\alpha}(\gamma(t)) = V_{j} - \frac{1}{2} \frac{x^{\beta} x^{\nu}}{\|x\|_{E}^{2}} \partial_{\nu} \Gamma^{\alpha}{}_{\beta\mu}(0) V_{j}^{\mu} t^{2} + O(t^{3})$$

and

$$\widetilde{e}_{j}^{\alpha}(x) = \widetilde{e}_{j}^{\alpha}(\gamma(\|x\|_{E})) = V_{j}^{\alpha} - \frac{1}{2}\partial_{\nu}\Gamma^{\alpha}{}_{\beta\mu}(0)\,V_{j}^{\mu}\,x^{\beta}x^{\nu} + O(\|x\|^{3}), \quad (7.5)$$

j=1,2,3. Formula (7.1) follows at once from (7.5) and the elementary identity

$$\partial_{\nu}\Gamma^{\alpha}{}_{\beta\mu}(0) = -\frac{1}{3}(R^{\alpha}{}_{\beta\mu\nu} + R^{\alpha}{}_{\mu\beta\nu})(0). \tag{7.6}$$

Corollary 7.3. In normal coordinates x centred at y, the Pauli matrices $\widetilde{\sigma}^{\alpha}(x)$ projected along the Levi-Civita framing (see (1.3)) satisfy

$$\widetilde{\sigma}^{\alpha}(y) = \sigma^{\alpha}(y), \qquad \left[\widetilde{\sigma}^{\alpha}\right]_{x^{\beta}}(y) = 0,$$

$$\left[\widetilde{\sigma}^{\alpha}\right]_{x^{\mu}x^{\nu}}(y) = \frac{1}{6} \left[R^{\alpha}_{\ \nu\beta\mu}(y) + R^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\beta\nu}(y)\right] \sigma^{\beta}(y). \tag{7.7}$$

Proof of Corollary 7.3. Formula (7.7) follows immediately from (7.1).

⁶The Riemann curvature tensor R has components $R^{\kappa}_{\lambda\mu\nu}$ defined in accordance with $R^{\kappa}_{\lambda\mu\nu} := dx^{\kappa}(R(\partial_{\mu}, \partial_{\nu}) \partial_{\lambda}) = \partial_{\mu}\Gamma^{\kappa}_{\nu\lambda} - \partial_{\nu}\Gamma^{\kappa}_{\mu\lambda} + \Gamma^{\kappa}_{\mu\eta}\Gamma^{\eta}_{\nu\lambda} - \Gamma^{\kappa}_{\nu\eta}\Gamma^{\eta}_{\mu\lambda}.$

Corollary 7.4. Let \widetilde{W} be the Dirac operator (1.4) corresponding to the choice of the Levi-Civita framing. Then, in normal coordinates centred at y, its zero order part \widetilde{W}_0 (see formula (5.2)) admits the following expansion:

$$\widetilde{W}_0(x) = \frac{i}{4} \operatorname{Ric}_{\alpha\beta}(y) \,\widetilde{\sigma}^{\beta}(y) \, x^{\alpha} + O(\|x\|^2). \tag{7.8}$$

Here Ric is the Ricci tensor, $Ric_{\alpha\beta} := R^{\gamma}{}_{\alpha\gamma\beta}$.

Proof. Formula (7.8) is obtained by expanding the RHS of (5.2) in powers of x in normal coordinates centred at y, substituting (7.6) and (7.7) in and performing a lengthy but straightforward calculation. It is a somewhat nontrivial fact that the coefficient of the linear term in (7.8) turns out to be trace-free.

7.2. Small Time Expansion of the Principal Symbols

The first step towards computing small time expansions for principal and subprincipal symbols of W is to obtain an expression for these objects in a neighbourhood of a given point $y \in M$ for the choice of the Levi-Civita framing generated by our framing $\{e_j\}_{j=1}^3$ at y. Observe that, as we are after a small time expansion of the symbols, it is enough to restrict our attention to a small open neighbourhood of y.

In the following, we will denote with a tilde objects associated with the Dirac operator \widetilde{W} corresponding to the choice of the Levi-Civita framing.

Theorem 7.5. For the choice of the Levi-Civita framing, the positive and negative principal symbols are independent of t and read

$$\widetilde{\mathfrak{a}}_0^{\pm}(t; y, \eta) = \widetilde{P}^{\pm}(y, \eta). \tag{7.9}$$

Proof. In accordance with Theorem 6.1, the principal symbols are determined by the eigenvectors of $\widetilde{W}_{\text{prin}}$ and their parallel transport with respect with the spin connection along the Hamiltonian trajectories. Hence, it suffices to show that

$$\widetilde{\zeta}^{\pm}(t; y, \eta) = \widetilde{v}^{\pm}(y, \eta). \tag{7.10}$$

Once this is achieved, (7.9) follows from the fact that

$$\widetilde{W}_{\text{prin}}(y,\eta) = W_{\text{prin}}(y,\eta).$$

In normal coordinates centred at y the parallel transport equation (6.2) reads

$$\left[\frac{d}{dt} + [\dot{x}^{\pm}]^{\alpha} \frac{1}{4} \widetilde{\sigma}_{\beta}(x^{\pm}) \left(\frac{\partial \widetilde{\sigma}^{\beta}}{\partial x^{\alpha}}(x^{\pm}) + \Gamma^{\beta}{}_{\alpha\gamma}(x^{\pm}) \widetilde{\sigma}^{\gamma}(x^{\pm}) \right) \right] \widetilde{\zeta}^{\pm} = 0,$$

$$\widetilde{\zeta}^{\pm}|_{t=0} = \widetilde{v}^{\pm}.$$
(7.11)

We claim that

$$[\dot{x}^{\pm}]^{\alpha} \left(\frac{\partial \widetilde{\sigma}^{\beta}}{\partial x^{\alpha}} (x^{\pm}) + \Gamma^{\beta}{}_{\alpha\gamma} (x^{\pm}) \widetilde{\sigma}^{\gamma} (x^{\pm}) \right) = 0.$$
 (7.12)

In fact, we have

$$[\dot{x}^{\pm}]^{\alpha} \left(\frac{\partial \widetilde{\sigma}^{\beta}}{\partial x^{\alpha}} (x^{\pm}) + \Gamma^{\beta}{}_{\alpha\gamma} (x^{\pm}) \widetilde{\sigma}^{\gamma} (x^{\pm}) \right) = [\dot{x}^{\pm}]^{\alpha} (\partial_{x^{\alpha}} \widetilde{e}_{j}{}^{\beta} + \Gamma^{\beta}{}_{\alpha\gamma} \widetilde{e}_{j}{}^{\gamma}) (x^{\pm}) s^{j}$$

and

$$[\dot{x}^{\pm}]^{\alpha}(\partial_{x^{\alpha}}\tilde{e}_{j}^{\beta} + \Gamma^{\beta}_{\alpha\gamma}\tilde{e}_{j}^{\gamma})(x^{\pm}) = 0 \text{ for } j = 1, 2, 3$$

in view of Definition 7.1 and the properties of the Hamiltonian flows x^{\pm} , i.e. that $x^{+}(\cdot; y, \eta)$ is geodesic and relation (5.3). By substituting (7.12) into (7.11) we arrive at (7.10).

7.3. Small Time Expansion of the Subprincipal Symbols

Let us now turn our attention to the subprincipal symbols $\tilde{\mathfrak{a}}_{-1}^{\pm}$.

Unlike the principal symbols, the subprincipal symbols depend on the choice of phase functions. As here we are only interested in small time expansions and the injectivity radius $\mathrm{Inj}(M,g)$ is strictly positive, we can work, without loss of generality, in a neighbourhood of y with no conjugate points to y. The absence of conjugate points allows us to construct positive and negative propagators for small times by means of the algorithm described in Sect. 3.3 for the choice of real-valued Levi-Civita phase functions

$$\varphi^{\pm}(t, x; y, \eta) = \int_{\gamma^{\pm}} \zeta^{\pm} dz,$$

cf. Definition 5.1 for $\epsilon = 0$.

In the remainder of this subsection we adopt the same coordinates for x and y and we choose normal geodesic coordinates centred at y. We remind the reader that, in such coordinates,

$$[x^{\pm}]^{\alpha}(t;0,\eta) = \pm \frac{\eta^{\alpha}}{h} t.$$
 (7.13)

According to [17, Eqns. (8.7) and (8.12)] and (5.5), we have

$$\varphi^{\pm}(t, x; 0, \eta) = x^{\alpha} \eta_{\alpha} \mp h t \pm \frac{t}{3h} R^{\alpha}{}_{\mu}{}^{\beta}{}_{\nu}(0) \eta_{\alpha} \eta_{\beta} x^{\mu} x^{\nu} + O(\|x\|^{4} + t^{4})$$
(7.14)

and

$$w^{\pm}(t, x; 0, \eta) = 1 + \frac{1}{12} \operatorname{Ric}_{\mu\nu}(0) x^{\mu} x^{\nu} \mp \frac{t}{3h} \operatorname{Ric}^{\mu}_{\nu}(0) \eta_{\mu} x^{\nu} + O(\|x\|^3 + |t|^3).$$
(7.15)

Recall that the weight w is defined by (3.12).

As explained in Sect. 5.1, the subprincipal symbols are determined by the first and the second transport equations, (5.12) and (5.13). More precisely, if we are interested in expansions with remainder $O(t^2)$, we need to determine (5.13) up to zeroth order in t and (5.12) up to first order in t.

To this end, we begin by observing that formulae (7.14) and (7.15), see also (3.30), imply that the differential evaluation operators \mathfrak{S}_{-2}^{\pm} and \mathfrak{S}_{-1}^{\pm} admit the following expansions in normal coordinates centred at y.

Lemma 7.6. We have

(a)

$$\mathfrak{S}_{-2}^{\pm} = \frac{1}{2} \left[i \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x^{\alpha} \partial \eta_{\alpha}} \right]^2 (\cdot) \bigg|_{t=0, r=0} + O(t), \tag{7.16}$$

(b) $\mathfrak{S}_{-1}^{\pm} = i \,\mathfrak{S}_{0}^{\pm} \left(\frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial x^{\alpha} \partial n_{z}} \pm \frac{t}{2} \, h_{\eta_{\alpha} \eta_{\beta}} \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial x^{\alpha} \partial x^{\beta}} \right) + O(t^{2}). \tag{7.17}$

Proof. (a) It is an immediate consequence of (7.13), (7.15) and

$$L_{\alpha}^{\pm} = \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\alpha}} + O(\|x\| + |t|). \tag{7.18}$$

(b) Substituting (7.15) into (3.30) with k = 1 and recalling that

$$\varphi_{\eta}^{\pm}\big|_{x=x^{\pm}} = 0,$$

we get

$$\mathfrak{S}_{-1}^{\pm} = \mathfrak{S}_{0}^{\pm} \left[i \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial x^{\alpha} \partial \eta_{\alpha}} - \frac{i}{2} \varphi_{\eta_{\alpha} \eta_{\beta}}^{\pm} L_{\alpha}^{\pm} L_{\beta}^{\pm} \right] + O(t^{2}). \tag{7.19}$$

Formula (7.18) and the fact that

$$\left. \varphi_{\eta_{\alpha}\eta_{\beta}}^{\pm} \right|_{x=x^{\pm}} = \mp t \, h_{\eta_{\alpha}\eta_{\beta}} + O(t^3) \tag{7.20}$$

yield
$$(7.17)$$
.

In order to be able to compute the subprincipal symbols, we need to determine the initial condition $\tilde{a}_{-1}^{\pm}|_{t=0}$ first.

Lemma 7.7. For the choice of real-valued Levi-Civita phase functions, the positive and negative subprincipal symbols $\tilde{\mathfrak{a}}_{-1}^{\pm}$ vanish at t=0:

$$\widetilde{\mathfrak{a}}_{-1}^{\pm}(0; y, \eta) = 0.$$
 (7.21)

Proof. The subprincipal symbols are scalar functions, so it enough to establish (7.21) in one specific coordinate system. Let us choose normal coordinates centred at y=0 such that $\tilde{e}_j{}^{\alpha}(0)=\delta_j{}^{\alpha}$. We observe that the torsion of the Weitzenböck connection generated by the Levi-Civita framing at y vanishes at y, as a consequence of the fact that the first derivatives of the framing are zero, cf. (7.1) and (A.2)–(A.3). Therefore, Theorem 5.6 tells us that

$$[U^{\pm}(0)]_{\text{sub}}(0,\eta) = 0. \tag{7.22}$$

A straightforward perturbation argument shows that

$$(v^{\pm})_{x^{\alpha}}(0,\eta) = 0. \tag{7.23}$$

Substituting (7.22) and (7.23) into (4.6) with $P = U^{\pm}(0)$ and $\epsilon = 0$ and using the fact that Christoffel symbols vanish at y, we arrive at (7.21).

We are now in a position to examine the first transport equation.

Lemma 7.8. The projection onto the negative (resp. positive) eigenspace of $\widetilde{W}_{\text{prim}}$ of the subprincipal symbol of the positive (resp. negative) propagator is given by

$$\begin{split} &\widetilde{P}^{\mp}(x^{\pm},\xi^{\pm})\widetilde{\mathfrak{a}}_{-1}^{\pm}(t;y,\eta) = \\ &\pm it\,\widetilde{P}^{\mp}(y,\eta)\left[\frac{1}{8h^3}\,Ric_{\alpha\beta}(y)\,\eta^{\alpha}\eta^{\beta} - \frac{1}{4h}Ric_{\alpha\beta}(y)\,\eta^{\alpha}\widetilde{P}_{\eta_{\beta}}^{\pm}(y,\eta)\right] + O(t^{2}\eta.24) \end{split}$$

Proof. We will establish formula (7.24) by expanding the first transport equation (5.12) up to first order in t and then acting with \widetilde{P}^{\mp} on the left. Recall that a_{-k}^{\pm} is defined by (5.10).

Working in normal coordinates centred at y and using (7.14)-(7.15), we obtain

$$\mathfrak{S}_{0}^{\pm}\widetilde{a}_{0}^{\pm}(t;0,\eta) = \left\{ \left(\varphi_{t}^{\pm} + \widetilde{W}_{\text{prin}}(x,\varphi_{x}^{\pm}) \right) \widetilde{\mathfrak{a}}_{-1}^{\pm} - i(\widetilde{\mathfrak{a}}_{-0}^{\pm})_{t} \right. \\ \left. + \left[-i(w^{\pm})^{-1} \left(w_{t}^{\pm} + \sigma^{\alpha} w_{x^{\alpha}}^{\pm} \right) + \widetilde{W}_{0} \right] \widetilde{\mathfrak{a}}_{-0}^{\pm} \right\} \Big|_{x=x^{\pm}} \\ = \left(\widetilde{W}_{\text{prin}}(x^{\pm},\xi^{\pm}) \mp h \right) \widetilde{\mathfrak{a}}_{-1}^{\pm}(t;0,\eta)$$

$$\left. + \frac{i\,t}{3h^{2}} \operatorname{Ric}_{\alpha\nu}(0) \left(\eta^{\alpha} \eta^{\nu} \pm \frac{1}{2} h \, \eta^{\alpha} \, \widetilde{\sigma}^{\nu}(0) \right) \widetilde{P}^{\pm}(y,\eta) \right.$$

$$\left. \pm \frac{t\,\eta^{\alpha}}{h} (\widetilde{W}_{0})_{x^{\alpha}}(0) \, \widetilde{P}^{\pm}(y,\eta) + O(t^{2}). \right.$$

$$\left. (7.25)$$

Furthermore, in view of Theorem 6.1 and Lemma 7.6(b), we have

$$\mathfrak{S}_{-1}^{\pm} \widetilde{a}_{1}^{\pm}(t; 0, \eta) = \left[\frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial x^{\alpha} \partial \eta_{\alpha}} \pm \frac{t}{2} h_{\eta_{\alpha} \eta_{\beta}} \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial x^{\alpha} \partial x^{\beta}} \right] \times \left(\varphi_{t}^{\pm} + \widetilde{W}_{\text{prin}}(x, \varphi_{x}^{\pm}) \right) \widetilde{\mathfrak{a}}_{0}^{\pm} \Big|_{x=x^{*}} + O(t^{2}) \\
= -\frac{2it}{3h^{2}} \operatorname{Ric}_{\alpha\nu}(0) \eta^{\alpha} \eta^{\nu} \widetilde{P}^{\pm} \pm it \left[\frac{2}{3h} R^{\mu}{}_{\alpha}{}^{\nu}{}_{\beta}(0) \eta_{\mu} \eta_{\nu} \widetilde{\sigma}^{\beta}(0) \widetilde{P}^{\pm} \right]_{\eta_{\alpha}} \\
\pm it \frac{\eta^{\beta}}{h} \left[(\widetilde{W}_{\text{prin}})_{x^{\alpha} x^{\beta}}(0, \eta) \widetilde{P}^{\pm} \right]_{\eta_{\alpha}} \\
+ it \left[\frac{h_{\eta_{\alpha} \eta_{\beta}}}{3h} R^{\mu}{}_{\alpha}{}^{\nu}{}_{\beta}(0) \eta_{\mu} \eta_{\nu} \pm \frac{1}{2} h_{\eta_{\alpha} \eta_{\beta}} (\widetilde{W}_{\text{prin}})_{x^{\alpha} x^{\beta}}(0, \eta) \right] \widetilde{P}^{\pm} \\
+ O(t^{2}). \tag{7.26}$$

Adding up (7.25) and (7.26) and projecting along \widetilde{P}^{\mp} , we arrive at

$$\widetilde{P}^{\mp}\widetilde{\mathfrak{a}}_{-1}^{\pm}(t;0,\eta)
= \frac{it}{h}\widetilde{P}^{\mp} \left\{ \frac{1}{12h} \operatorname{Ric}_{\alpha\nu}(0) \eta^{\alpha} \widetilde{\sigma}^{\nu}(0) \widetilde{P}^{\pm} - \frac{i\eta^{\alpha}}{2h} (\widetilde{W}_{0})_{x^{\alpha}}(0) \widetilde{P}^{\pm} \right.
\left. + \left[\frac{1}{3h} R^{\mu}{}_{\alpha}{}^{\nu}{}_{\beta}(0) \eta_{\mu} \eta_{\nu} \widetilde{\sigma}^{\beta}(0) \widetilde{P}^{\pm} \right]_{\eta_{\alpha}} + \frac{\eta^{\beta}}{2h} \left[(\widetilde{W}_{\text{prin}})_{x^{\alpha} x^{\beta}}(0,\eta) \widetilde{P}^{\pm} \right]_{\eta_{\alpha}}
+ \frac{1}{4} h_{\eta_{\alpha} \eta_{\beta}} (\widetilde{W}_{\text{prin}})_{x^{\alpha} x^{\beta}}(0,\eta) \widetilde{P}^{\pm} \right\} + O(t^{2}).$$
(7.27)

Let us compute the summands in (7.27) separately. To this end, let us put

$$\begin{split} A_1 &:= \frac{1}{12h} \operatorname{Ric}_{\alpha\nu}(0) \, \eta^\alpha \widetilde{\sigma}^\nu(0) \widetilde{P}^\pm, \\ A_2 &:= -\frac{i\eta^\alpha}{2h} (\widetilde{W}_0)_{x^\alpha}(0) \, \widetilde{P}^\pm, \\ A_3 &:= \left[\frac{1}{3h} R^\mu{}_\alpha{}^\nu{}_\beta(0) \, \eta_\mu \eta_\nu \, \widetilde{\sigma}^\beta(0) \, \widetilde{P}^\pm \right]_{\eta_\alpha}, \\ A_4 &:= \frac{\eta^\beta}{2h} \left[(\widetilde{W}_{\mathrm{prin}})_{x^\alpha x^\beta}(0,\eta) \widetilde{P}^\pm \right]_{\eta_\alpha}, \\ A_5 &:= \frac{1}{4} h_{\eta_\alpha \eta_\beta} \left(\widetilde{W}_{\mathrm{prin}} \right)_{x^\alpha x^\beta}(0,\eta) \, \widetilde{P}^\pm. \end{split}$$

• A_1 : It ensues from elementary properties of \widetilde{P}^{\pm} that

$$\widetilde{P}^{\mp}\widetilde{\sigma}^{\alpha}\widetilde{P}^{\pm} = \widetilde{P}^{\mp}[\widetilde{W}_{\text{prin}}\widetilde{P}^{\pm}]_{\eta_{\alpha}} - \widetilde{P}^{\mp}\widetilde{W}_{\text{prin}}\widetilde{P}_{\eta_{\alpha}}^{\pm} = \pm 2h\,\widetilde{P}^{\mp}\widetilde{P}_{\eta_{\alpha}}^{\pm}. \tag{7.28}$$

Hence

$$\widetilde{P}^{\mp} A_1 = \widetilde{P}^{\mp} \left(\pm \frac{1}{6} \operatorname{Ric}_{\alpha\beta}(0) \, \eta^{\alpha} \widetilde{P}_{\eta_{\beta}}^{\pm} \right). \tag{7.29}$$

• A_2 : Combining Corollary 7.4 with the identity

$$h_{\eta_{\alpha}\eta_{\beta}} = \frac{h^2 \, \delta^{\alpha\beta} - \eta^{\alpha} \eta^{\beta}}{h^3} \tag{7.30}$$

and using (7.28), we get

$$\widetilde{P}^{\mp} A_2 = \widetilde{P}^{\mp} \left(\pm \frac{1}{4} \operatorname{Ric}_{\alpha\beta}(0) \, \eta^{\alpha} \widetilde{P}_{\eta_{\beta}}^{\pm} \right). \tag{7.31}$$

• A_3 : We have

$$\begin{split} A_3 &= \left[\frac{1}{3h} R^{\mu}{}_{\alpha}{}^{\nu}{}_{\beta}(0) \, \eta_{\mu} \eta_{\nu} \, \widetilde{\sigma}^{\beta}(0) \, \widetilde{P}^{\pm} \right]_{\eta_{\alpha}} \\ &= \frac{1}{3h} R^{\mu}{}_{\alpha}{}^{\nu}{}_{\beta}(0) \, \widetilde{\sigma}^{\beta}(0) \left[\eta_{\mu} \eta_{\nu} \, \widetilde{P}^{\pm} \right]_{\eta_{\alpha}} \\ &= -\frac{1}{3h} \operatorname{Ric}_{\mu\nu}(0) \, \eta^{\mu} \, \widetilde{\sigma}^{\nu}(0) \, \widetilde{P}^{\pm} \pm \frac{1}{6 \, h^2} \operatorname{Ric}_{\mu\beta}(0) \, \eta^{\mu} \eta^{\beta} \operatorname{Id}, \end{split}$$

so that, by (7.28),

$$\widetilde{P}^{\mp} A_3 = \widetilde{P}^{\mp} \left(\mp \frac{2}{3} \operatorname{Ric}_{\alpha\beta}(0) \, \eta^{\alpha} \widetilde{P}_{\eta_{\beta}}^{\pm} \pm \frac{1}{6 \, h^2} \operatorname{Ric}_{\alpha\beta}(0) \, \eta^{\alpha} \eta^{\beta} \right). \tag{7.32}$$

• A_4 : Recalling (7.7), we have

$$\begin{split} A_4 &= \frac{\eta^{\beta}}{2h} (\widetilde{\sigma}^{\mu})_{x^{\alpha}x^{\beta}}(0) \left[\eta_{\mu} \, \widetilde{P}^{\pm} \right]_{\eta_{\alpha}} \\ &= -\frac{1}{12h} \operatorname{Ric}_{\alpha\beta}(0) \, \eta^{\alpha} \widetilde{\sigma}^{\beta}(0) \, \widetilde{P}^{\pm} \mp \frac{1}{24 \, h^2} \operatorname{Ric}_{\alpha\beta}(0) \, \eta^{\alpha} \eta^{\beta} \operatorname{Id}, \end{split}$$

so that, by (7.28),

$$\widetilde{P}^{\mp} A_4 = \widetilde{P}^{\mp} \left(\mp \frac{1}{6} \operatorname{Ric}_{\alpha\beta}(0) \, \eta^{\alpha} \widetilde{P}_{\eta_{\beta}}^{\pm} \mp \frac{1}{24 \, h^2} \operatorname{Ric}_{\alpha\beta}(0) \, \eta^{\alpha} \eta^{\beta} \right). \tag{7.33}$$

• A_5 : In view of (7.30) and (7.7), we have

$$A_{5} = \frac{1}{4} \left(\frac{\delta^{\alpha\beta}}{h} - \frac{\eta^{\alpha}\eta^{\beta}}{h^{3}} \right) \frac{1}{6} \left[R^{\mu}{}_{\beta\nu\alpha} + R^{\mu}{}_{\alpha\nu\beta} \right] (0) \, \widetilde{\sigma}^{\nu}(0) \, \eta_{\mu} \, \widetilde{P}^{\pm}$$
$$= \frac{1}{12 \, h} \, \operatorname{Ric}_{\mu\nu}(0) \, \eta^{\mu} \widetilde{\sigma}^{\nu}(0) \, \widetilde{P}^{\pm},$$

so that, by (7.28).

$$\widetilde{P}^{\mp} A_5 = \widetilde{P}^{\mp} \left(\pm \frac{1}{6} \operatorname{Ric}_{\alpha\beta}(0) \, \eta^{\alpha} \widetilde{P}_{\eta_{\beta}}^{\pm} \right). \tag{7.34}$$

Substituting (7.29), (7.31), (7.32), (7.33) and (7.34) into (7.27) we arrive at (7.24).

Let us now move to the second transport equation.

Lemma 7.9. The projection onto the positive (resp. negative) eigenspace of $\widetilde{W}_{\mathrm{prin}}$ of the subprincipal symbol of the positive (resp. negative) propagator is given by

$$\widetilde{P}^{\pm}(x^{\pm}, \xi^{\pm})\widetilde{\mathfrak{a}}_{-1}^{\pm}(t; y, \eta)
= \mp it \, \widetilde{P}^{\pm} \left[\frac{1}{24h} \mathcal{R}(0) + \frac{1}{8h^3} \operatorname{Ric}_{\alpha\beta}(0) \, \eta^{\alpha} \, \eta^{\beta} + \frac{1}{4h} \operatorname{Ric}_{\alpha\beta}(0) \, \eta^{\alpha} \, \widetilde{P}_{\eta_{\beta}}^{\pm} \right]
+ O(t^2).$$
(7.35)

Proof. We will establish formula (7.35) by computing the second transport equation (5.13) up to zeroth order in t and then acting with \widetilde{P}^{\pm} on the left. With account of Lemma 7.6, we have

$$\mathfrak{S}_{-2}^{\pm} \widetilde{a}_{1}^{\pm} \Big|_{t=0} \\
= -\frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial^{4}}{\partial x^{\alpha} \partial \eta_{\alpha} \partial x^{\beta} \partial \eta_{\beta}} \left(\varphi_{t}^{\pm} + \widetilde{W}_{\text{prin}}(x, \varphi_{x}^{\pm}) \right) \mathfrak{a}_{0}^{\pm} \Big|_{x=0, t=0} \\
= -\frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial^{4}}{\partial x^{\alpha} \partial \eta_{\alpha} \partial x^{\beta} \partial \eta_{\beta}} \left(\mp h \pm \frac{1}{3h} R^{\gamma}_{\mu}{}^{\rho}_{\nu}(0) \eta_{\gamma} \eta_{\rho} x^{\mu} x^{\nu} + O(\|x\|^{3}) + \widetilde{\sigma}^{\alpha}(0) (\eta_{\alpha} + O(\|x\|^{3})) \widetilde{P}^{\pm} \right) \Big|_{x=0, t=0} \\
= -\frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial \eta_{\alpha} \partial \eta_{\beta}} \left(\pm \frac{1}{3h} R^{\gamma}_{\alpha}{}^{\rho}_{\beta}(0) \eta_{\gamma} \eta_{\rho} + \frac{1}{2} (\widetilde{W}_{\text{prin}})_{x^{\alpha} x^{\beta}}(0, \eta) \right) \widetilde{P}^{\pm}, \quad (7.36) \\
\mathfrak{S}_{-1}^{\pm} \widetilde{a}_{0}^{\pm} \Big|_{t=0} = i \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial x^{\alpha} \partial \eta_{\alpha}} \left[\left(\mp h + \widetilde{W}_{\text{prin}}(x, \eta) \right) \widetilde{\mathfrak{a}}_{-1}^{\pm}(0; y, \eta) - i (\widetilde{\mathfrak{a}}_{0}^{\pm})_{t} + \left(\pm \frac{i \eta_{\mu}}{3h} \operatorname{Ric}^{\mu}_{\nu}(0) x^{\nu} + - \frac{i}{6} \operatorname{Ric}_{\mu\nu}(0) \widetilde{\sigma}^{\mu}(0) x^{\nu} + O(\|x\|^{2}) \right) \widetilde{P}^{\pm} \\
+ \widetilde{W}_{0}(x) \widetilde{P}^{\pm} \Big] \Big|_{t=0, x=0} \\
= \mp \frac{\partial}{\partial \eta_{\alpha}} \left(\frac{\eta_{\mu}}{3h^{(j)}} \operatorname{Ric}^{\mu}_{\alpha}(0) \widetilde{P}^{\pm} \right) + \frac{1}{6} \operatorname{Ric}_{\alpha\mu}(0) \widetilde{\sigma}^{\mu}(0) \widetilde{P}^{\mu}_{\eta_{\alpha}} \\
+ i (\widetilde{W}_{0})_{x^{\alpha}}(0) \widetilde{P}^{\pm}_{\eta_{\alpha}} \right) \quad (7.37)$$

and

$$\mathfrak{S}_{0}^{\pm} \widetilde{a}_{-1}^{\pm} \big|_{t=0} = (\mp h + \widetilde{W}_{\text{prin}}(0, \eta)) \widetilde{\mathfrak{a}}_{-2}^{\pm}(0) - i (\widetilde{\mathfrak{a}}_{-1}^{\pm})_{t} |_{t=0}.$$
 (7.38)

In carrying out the above calculations we used Theorem 7.5 and Lemma 7.7. Note that, when multiplying on the left by \widetilde{P}^{\pm} , the terms containing $\widetilde{\mathfrak{a}}_{-2}^{\pm}$ disappear. Summing up (7.36), (7.37) and (7.38), and projecting along \widetilde{P}^{\pm} , we obtain

$$(\widetilde{P}^{\pm}\widetilde{\mathfrak{a}}_{-1}^{\pm})_{t}(0; y, \eta)$$

$$= i\widetilde{P}^{\pm} \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial \eta_{\alpha} \partial \eta_{\beta}} \left[\left(\pm \frac{1}{3h} R^{\gamma}{}_{\alpha}{}^{\rho}{}_{\beta}(0) \eta_{\gamma} \eta_{\rho} + \frac{1}{2} (\widetilde{W}_{\text{prin}})_{x^{\alpha}x^{\beta}}(0, \eta) \right) \widetilde{P}^{\pm} \right]$$

$$\pm i\widetilde{P}^{\pm} \frac{\partial}{\partial \eta_{\alpha}} \left[\frac{\eta_{\mu}}{3h} \operatorname{Ric}^{\mu}{}_{\alpha}(0) \widetilde{P}^{\pm} \right] - \frac{i}{6} \operatorname{Ric}_{\alpha\mu}(0) \widetilde{\sigma}^{\mu}(0) \widetilde{P}^{\pm}_{\eta_{\alpha}}$$

$$+ \widetilde{P}^{\pm} (\widetilde{W}_{0})_{x^{\alpha}}(0) \widetilde{P}^{\pm}_{\eta_{\alpha}} + O(t). \tag{7.39}$$

Using the identity

$$\pm \frac{\partial}{\partial \eta_\beta} \left[\frac{1}{3h} \, R^{\gamma}{}_\alpha{}^\rho{}_\beta(0) \, \eta_\gamma \, \eta_\rho \widetilde{P}^\pm \right] = \mp \frac{\eta_\mu}{3h} \, \mathrm{Ric}^\mu{}_\alpha(0) \widetilde{P}^\pm \pm \frac{1}{3h} \, R^\gamma{}_\alpha{}^\rho{}_\beta(0) \, \eta_\gamma \, \eta_\rho \widetilde{P}^\pm_{\eta_\beta},$$

formula (7.39) becomes

$$(\widetilde{P}^{\pm}\widetilde{\mathfrak{a}}_{-1}^{\pm})_{t}(0; y, \eta) = \frac{i}{2}\widetilde{P}^{\pm}\frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial\eta_{\alpha}\partial\eta_{\beta}}\left[(\widetilde{W}_{\text{prin}})_{x^{\alpha}x^{\beta}}(0, \eta)\widetilde{P}^{\pm}\right]$$

$$\pm i\widetilde{P}^{\pm}\frac{\partial}{\partial\eta_{\alpha}}\left[\frac{1}{3h}R^{\gamma}{}_{\alpha}{}^{\rho}{}_{\beta}(0)\eta_{\gamma}\eta_{\rho}\widetilde{P}_{\eta_{\beta}}^{\pm}\right]$$

$$-\frac{i}{6}\operatorname{Ric}_{\alpha\mu}(0)\widetilde{\sigma}^{\mu}(0)\widetilde{P}_{\eta_{\alpha}}^{\pm} + \widetilde{P}^{\pm}(\widetilde{W}_{0})_{x^{\alpha}}(0)\widetilde{P}_{\eta_{\alpha}}^{\pm} + O(t). \tag{7.40}$$

Let us put

$$B_{1} := \frac{i}{2} \left[(\widetilde{W}_{\text{prin}})_{x^{\alpha} x^{\beta}} (0, \eta) \widetilde{P}^{\pm} \right]_{\eta_{\alpha} \eta_{\beta}},$$

$$B_{2} := \frac{i}{3h} R^{\gamma}{}_{\alpha}{}^{\rho}{}_{\beta} (0) \eta_{\gamma} \eta_{\rho} \widetilde{P}_{\eta_{\beta}}^{\pm},$$

$$B_{3} := -\frac{i}{6} \operatorname{Ric}_{\alpha \mu} (0) \widetilde{\sigma}^{\mu} (0) \widetilde{P}_{\eta_{\alpha}}^{\pm} + (\widetilde{W}_{0})_{x^{\alpha}} (0) \widetilde{P}_{\eta_{\alpha}}^{\pm}.$$

$$(7.41)$$

• B_1 : It follows from (5.17), Corollary 7.3 and (7.30) that

$$\widetilde{P}^{\pm} B_{1} = \frac{i}{6} \widetilde{P}^{\pm} \left[R^{\mu}{}_{\beta\nu\alpha} \eta_{\mu} \widetilde{\sigma}^{\nu} \frac{1}{2} \left(\operatorname{Id} \pm \frac{\eta_{\rho} \widetilde{\sigma}^{\rho}}{h} \right) \right]_{\eta_{\alpha}\eta_{\beta}} \\
= \pm \frac{i}{12} \widetilde{P}^{\pm} R^{\mu}{}_{\beta\nu\alpha} \widetilde{\sigma}^{\nu} \widetilde{\sigma}^{\rho} \left(\frac{\eta_{\mu} \eta_{\rho}}{h} \right)_{\eta_{\alpha}\eta_{\beta}} \\
= \pm \left(-\frac{i}{12h} \mathcal{R}(0) + \frac{i}{12h^{3}} \operatorname{Ric}_{\alpha\beta}(0) \eta^{\alpha} \eta^{\beta} \right) \widetilde{P}^{\pm}.$$
(7.42)

• B_2 : Differentiating (5.17) with respect to η_{β} yields

$$\widetilde{P}_{\eta_{\beta}}^{\pm} = \pm \frac{1}{2h} (\widetilde{W}_{\text{prin}})_{\eta_{\beta}} \mp \frac{\eta^{\beta}}{2h^{3}} \widetilde{W}_{\text{prin}}$$

$$= \pm \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\widetilde{\sigma}^{\beta}}{h} - \frac{\eta^{\beta} \eta_{\rho} \widetilde{\sigma}^{\rho}}{h^{3}} \right).$$
(7.43)

Substituting (7.43) into B_2 in (7.41) we obtain

$$\pm \widetilde{P}^{\pm} B_{2} = \frac{i}{6} \widetilde{P}^{\pm} R^{\mu}{}_{\alpha}{}^{\nu}{}_{\beta} \left[\widetilde{\sigma}^{\beta} \left(\frac{\eta_{\mu} \eta_{\nu}}{h^{2}} \right)_{\eta_{\alpha}} + \widetilde{\sigma}^{\rho} \left(\frac{\eta_{\mu} \eta_{\nu} \eta^{\beta} \eta_{\rho}}{h^{4}} \right)_{\eta_{\alpha}} \right]$$

$$= -\frac{i}{6 h^{2}} \widetilde{P}^{\pm} \operatorname{Ric}^{\mu}{}_{\beta}(0) \eta_{\mu} \widetilde{\sigma}^{\beta}(0).$$
(7.44)

• B_3 : By means of Corollary 7.4 and formula (7.43) we get

$$B_{3} = \left(\pm \frac{i}{4} \operatorname{Ric}_{\alpha\beta}(0) \sigma^{\alpha} \mp \frac{i}{6} \operatorname{Ric}_{\alpha\beta}(0) \sigma^{\alpha}\right) \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\sigma^{\beta}}{h} - \frac{\eta^{\beta} \sigma^{\rho} \eta_{\rho}}{h^{3}}\right)$$

$$= \pm \frac{i}{24} \operatorname{Ric}_{\alpha\beta}(0) \sigma^{\alpha} \left(\frac{\sigma^{\beta}}{h} - \frac{\eta^{\beta} \sigma^{\rho} \eta_{\rho}}{h^{3}}\right)$$

$$= \pm \left(\frac{i}{24h} \mathcal{R}(0) \operatorname{Id} - \frac{i}{24h^{3}} \operatorname{Ric}_{\alpha\beta}(0) \eta^{\beta} \eta_{\rho} \sigma^{\alpha}(0) \sigma^{\rho}(0)\right).$$

$$(7.45)$$

Now, since $\widetilde{P}^{\pm}\widetilde{\sigma}^{\rho}(0)\eta_{\rho} = \widetilde{P}^{\pm}\widetilde{W}_{\text{prin}}(0,\eta) = \pm h\,\widetilde{P}^{\pm}$ and $\widetilde{\sigma}^{\alpha}\widetilde{\sigma}^{\rho} = -\widetilde{\sigma}^{\rho}\widetilde{\sigma}^{\alpha} + 2\,\delta^{\alpha\rho}$ Id, formula (7.45) implies

$$\widetilde{P}^{\pm}B_{3} = \widetilde{P}^{\pm} \left(\pm \frac{i}{24 h} \mathcal{R}(0) + \frac{i}{24 h^{2}} \operatorname{Ric}_{\alpha\beta}(0) \eta^{\alpha} \widetilde{\sigma}^{\beta} \mp \frac{i}{12 h^{3}} \operatorname{Ric}_{\alpha\beta}(0) \eta^{\alpha} \eta^{\beta} \right). \quad (7.46)$$

Summing up (7.42), (7.44) and (7.46) we arrive at

$$(\widetilde{P}^{\pm}\widetilde{\mathfrak{a}}_{-1}^{\pm})_{t}(0;y,\eta) = i\widetilde{P}^{\pm}\left(\mp\frac{1}{24h}\mathcal{R}(0) - \frac{1}{8h^{2}}\operatorname{Ric}_{\alpha\beta}(0)\eta^{\alpha}\widetilde{\sigma}^{\beta}(0)\right) + O(t). \quad (7.47)$$

A straightforward calculation shows that

$$\widetilde{P}^{\pm}\widetilde{\sigma}^{\alpha} = \pm \widetilde{P}^{\pm} \left(\frac{\eta^{\alpha}}{h} + 2h\widetilde{P}_{\eta_{\alpha}}^{\pm} \right).$$

Substituting the above expression into (7.47) and integrating in time with initial condition (7.21), we obtain (7.35).

The pieces of information from Lemma 7.8 and Lemma 7.9 can be combined to give the following result.

Theorem 7.10. For the choice of the Levi-Civita framing, the subprincipal symbols of the positive and negative propagators admit the following small time expansion:

$$\widetilde{\mathfrak{a}}_{-1}^{\pm}(t; y, \eta) = \mp it \left(\frac{1}{24h} \mathcal{R}(y) \, \widetilde{P}^{\pm}(y, \eta) - \frac{1}{8h^2} \operatorname{Ric}_{\alpha\beta}(y) \, \eta^{\alpha} \, (\widetilde{W}_{\text{prin}})_{\eta_{\beta}}(y, \eta) \right) + O(t^2) \,.$$

$$(7.48)$$

Proof. Summing up formulae (7.24) and (7.35), we obtain

$$\widetilde{\mathfrak{a}}_{-1}^{\pm}(t;y,\eta) = \mp \frac{it}{24h} \mathcal{R}(y) \, \widetilde{P}^{\pm}(y,\eta) \mp \frac{it}{8h^4} \operatorname{Ric}_{\alpha\beta}(y) \, \eta^{\alpha} \, \eta^{\beta} \, \widetilde{W}_{\text{prin}}(y,\eta) - \frac{it}{4h} \operatorname{Ric}_{\alpha\beta}(y) \, \eta^{\alpha} \, \widetilde{P}_{\eta_{\beta}}^{\pm}(y,\eta) + O(t^2) \, .$$

The substitution of (7.43) into the RHS of the above equation gives (7.48).

Note that if the manifold is Ricci-flat then $\tilde{\mathfrak{a}}_{-1}^{\pm}(t;y,\eta)=O(t^2)$.

7.4. Invariant Reformulation

In the previous subsections we derived the quite elegant and compact formulae (7.9) and (7.48), which were obtained under the assumption that the chosen framing is the Levi-Civita framing at y. Now the task at hand is to obtain similar formulae for the Dirac operator W corresponding to an arbitrary framing $\{e_j\}_{j=1}^3$.

Given a framing $\{e_j\}_{j=1}^3$ and a point $y \in M$, there exits a special unitary matrix-function G, defined in a neighbourhood of y, such that $\{e_j\}_{j=1}^3$ and the Levi-Civita framing $\{\tilde{e}_j\}_{j=1}^3$ generated by $\{e_j\}_{j=1}^3$ at y are related in accordance with

$$e_j^{\alpha}(x) = \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{tr}(s_j G^*(x) s^k G(x)) \tilde{e}_k^{\alpha}(x), \qquad G(y) = \operatorname{Id},$$
 (7.49)

cf. (5.22) and (1.7). The symbols $\tilde{\mathfrak{a}}^{\pm}$ and \mathfrak{a}^{\pm} are related as

$$\mathfrak{a}^{\pm} = \mathfrak{S}^{\pm}[G^*(x)\,\widetilde{\mathfrak{a}}^{\pm}\,G(y)],\tag{7.50}$$

cf. Sect. 5. Note that on the RHS of (7.50) the transformed symbol is acted upon by amplitude-to-symbol operators (3.31). The latter are needed because the gauge transformation G introduces an x-dependence in the amplitude, which has to be excluded.

Working in normal coordinates centred at y, formula (7.50), combined with (7.13) and (7.9), implies

$$\mathfrak{a}_{0}^{\pm} = G^{*}(x^{\pm})P^{\pm}
= P^{\pm} \pm \frac{t \, \eta^{\alpha}}{h} G_{x^{\alpha}}^{*}(y)P^{\pm} + \frac{t^{2}}{2} \frac{\eta^{\alpha} \eta^{\beta}}{h^{2}} G_{x^{\alpha} x^{\beta}}^{*}(y)P^{\pm} + O(t^{3})
= P^{\pm} \pm \frac{t \, \eta^{\alpha}}{h} \, \nabla_{\alpha} G^{*}(y) \, P^{\pm} + \frac{t^{2}}{2} \frac{\eta^{\alpha} \eta^{\beta}}{h^{2}} \nabla_{\alpha} \nabla_{\beta} G^{*}(y)P^{\pm} + O(t^{3}).$$
(7.51)

Similarly, by means of (7.13) and Lemma 7.6, from (7.50) we get

$$\mathfrak{a}_{-1}^{\pm} = \mathfrak{S}_{-1}^{\pm} [G^{*}(x) \, \widetilde{\mathfrak{a}}_{0}^{\pm}] + \mathfrak{S}_{0}^{\pm} [G^{*}(x) \, \widetilde{\mathfrak{a}}_{-1}^{\pm}]
= i \, G_{x^{\alpha}}^{*}(y) \, P_{\eta_{\alpha}}^{\pm} \pm i t \, G_{x^{\alpha} x^{\beta}}^{*}(y) \left(h_{\eta_{\beta}} \, P_{\eta_{\alpha}}^{\pm} + \frac{1}{2} h_{\eta_{\alpha} \eta_{\beta}} \, P^{\pm} \right)
+ \widetilde{\mathfrak{a}}_{-1}^{\pm} + O(t^{2})
= i \, \nabla_{\alpha} G^{*}(y) \, P_{\eta_{\alpha}}^{\pm} \pm i t \, \nabla_{\alpha} \nabla_{\beta} G^{*}(y) \left(h_{\eta_{\beta}} \, P_{\eta_{\alpha}}^{\pm} + \frac{1}{2} h_{\eta_{\alpha} \eta_{\beta}} \, P^{\pm} \right)
+ \widetilde{\mathfrak{a}}_{-1}^{\pm} + O(t^{2}).$$
(7.52)

The last step towards expressing (7.51) and (7.52) invariantly is writing ∇G and $\nabla \nabla G$ in terms of geometric invariants. Theorem 5.4 tells us that

$$\nabla_{\alpha}G(y) = -\frac{i}{2} K_{\alpha\beta}^{*}(y) \sigma^{\beta}(y). \tag{7.53}$$

The following theorem provides an expression for the second covariant derivatives of the gauge transformation.

Theorem 7.11. Let us fix a point y and let the special unitary matrix-function G be such that our framing $\{e_j\}_{j=1}^3$ and the Levi-Civita framing $\{\widetilde{e}_j\}_{j=1}^3$ generated by $\{e_j\}_{j=1}^3$ at y are related in accordance with (7.49) in a neighbourhood of y. Then we have

$$\nabla_{\alpha}\nabla_{\beta}G(y) = -\frac{i}{4}\left(\nabla_{\alpha}\overset{*}{K}_{\beta\mu}(y) + \nabla_{\beta}\overset{*}{K}_{\alpha\mu}(y)\right)\sigma^{\mu}(y) - \frac{1}{4}\overset{*}{K}_{\alpha\mu}(y)\overset{*}{K}_{\beta}{}^{\mu}(y)\operatorname{Id},$$
(7.54)

where K is the contorsion tensor of the Weitzenböck connection (see Appendix A) associated with the framing $\{e_j\}_{j=1}^3$ and the star stands for the Hodge dual applied in the first and third indices (see formula (A.7)).

Proof. The proof is given in Appendix B.2.
$$\Box$$

Remark 7.12. Note that, remarkably, the curvature of the Levi-Civita connection does not appear in the RHS of (7.54).

Substituting (7.53) and (7.54) into (7.51) and (7.52) we arrive at the following result.

Theorem 7.13. Let W be the Dirac operator (1.4). Then the principal and subprincipal symbols of the positive and negative propagators admit the following small time expansions:

$$\mathfrak{a}_{0}^{\pm} = \left[\operatorname{Id} \pm \frac{it}{2} h_{\eta_{\alpha}} \overset{*}{K_{\alpha\beta}} (W_{\operatorname{prin}})_{\eta_{\beta}} \right] P^{\pm} \\
+ \frac{t^{2}}{8} \frac{\eta^{\alpha} \eta^{\beta}}{h^{2}} \left[i \left(\nabla_{\alpha} \overset{*}{K_{\beta\mu}} (y) + \nabla_{\beta} \overset{*}{K_{\alpha\mu}} (y) \right) (W_{\operatorname{prin}})_{\eta_{\mu}} - \overset{*}{K_{\alpha\mu}} (y) \overset{*}{K_{\beta}}^{\mu} (y) \right] P^{\pm} \\
+ O(t^{3}), \qquad (7.55) \\
\mathfrak{a}_{-1}^{\pm} = -\frac{1}{2} \overset{*}{K_{\alpha\beta}} (W_{\operatorname{prin}})_{\eta_{\beta}} P_{\eta_{\alpha}}^{\pm} \\
\mp it \left(\frac{1}{24 h} \mathcal{R} P^{\pm} - \frac{1}{8h^{2}} \operatorname{Ric}_{\alpha\beta} \eta^{\alpha} (W_{\operatorname{prin}})_{\eta_{\beta}} \right) \\
\mp \frac{t}{4} \left(\nabla_{\alpha} \overset{*}{K_{\beta\mu}} + \nabla_{\beta} \overset{*}{K_{\alpha\mu}} \right) (W_{\operatorname{prin}})_{\eta_{\mu}} \left(h_{\eta_{\beta}} P_{\eta_{\alpha}}^{\pm} + \frac{1}{2} h_{\eta_{\alpha}\eta_{\beta}} P^{\pm} \right) \\
\mp \frac{it}{4} \overset{*}{K_{\alpha\mu}} \overset{*}{K_{\beta}}^{\mu} \left(h_{\eta_{\beta}} P_{\eta_{\alpha}}^{\pm} + \frac{1}{2} h_{\eta_{\alpha}\eta_{\beta}} P^{\pm} \right) + O(t^{2}), \qquad (7.56)$$

where K denotes the Hodge dual in the first and third indices of the contorsion tensor of the Weitzenböck connection associated with the framing $\{e_j\}_{j=1}^3$.

8. An Application: Spectral Asymptotics

In this section we will compute the third Weyl coefficient for the Dirac operator. In doing so we will use the same notation as in Sect. 1—recall in particular formulae (1.17), (1.13) and the definition of the function μ .

Theorem 8.1. The third local Weyl coefficients for the Dirac operator are

$$c_0^{\pm}(y) = -\frac{1}{48\pi^2} \mathcal{R}(y),$$
 (8.1)

where \mathcal{R} is scalar curvature.

Proof. Let us fix a point $y \in M$ and choose normal geodesic coordinates x centred at y. Let us also choose a Levi-Civita framing $\{\tilde{e}_j\}_{j=1}^3$, see Definition 7.1; here we make use of the fact that Weyl coefficients do not depend on the choice of framing.

We have

$$(N'_{+} * \mu)(y, \lambda) = \mathcal{F}^{-1} \left[\mathcal{F} \left[(N'_{+} * \mu) \right] \right] (y, \lambda) = \mathcal{F}^{-1} \left[\operatorname{tr} u_{+}(t, y, y) \, \hat{\mu}(t) \right], \quad (8.2)$$

$$(N'_{-}*\mu)(y,\lambda) \,=\, \mathcal{F}^{-1}\left[\mathcal{F}\left[(N'_{-}*\mu)\right]\right](y,\lambda) \,=\, \mathcal{F}^{-1}\left[\operatorname{tr}\overline{u_{-}(t,y,y)}\,\hat{\mu}(t)\right], \quad (8.3)$$

where u_{\pm} is the Schwartz kernel of the propagator U^{\pm} and tr stands for the matrix trace. Note that at each point of the manifold the quantity $\operatorname{tr} u_{\pm}(t,y,y)$ is a distribution in the variable t and the construction presented in preceding sections allows us to write down this distribution explicitly, modulo a smooth function.

Our task is to substitute (5.7) into the right-hand sides of (8.2) and (8.3) and expand the resulting quantities in powers of λ as $\lambda \to +\infty$. Thus, the problem reduces to the analysis of explicit integrals in four variables, η_1, η_2, η_3 and t, depending on the parameter λ . In what follows we drop the y in our intermediate calculations.

The construction presented in preceding sections tells us that the only singularity of the distribution $\operatorname{tr} u_{\pm}(t,y,y) \hat{\mu}(t)$ is at t=0. Hence, in what follows, we can assume that the support of $\hat{\mu}$ is arbitrarily small. In particular, this allows us to use the real-valued ($\epsilon=0$) Levi-Civita phase functions φ^{\pm} .

Theorems 7.5 and 7.10 imply that

$$\operatorname{tr}\widetilde{\mathfrak{a}}_0^{\pm}(t;\eta) = 1, \tag{8.4}$$

$$\operatorname{tr} \widetilde{\mathfrak{a}}_{-1}^{\pm}(t;\eta) = \mp \frac{i}{24 \|\eta\|} \mathcal{R} t + O(t^2). \tag{8.5}$$

Formula [17, (B.11)] reads $\varphi^+(t,\eta) = -\|\eta\|\, t + O(t^4)\,$, which, in view of (5.5), implies

$$\varphi^{\pm}(t,\eta) = \mp \|\eta\| \, t + O(t^4) \,. \tag{8.6}$$

Using formulae (8.2)–(8.6) and arguing as in [17, Appendix B], we conclude that

$$(N'_{\pm} * \mu)(y, \lambda) = \frac{S_2}{(2\pi)^4} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \left(r^2 - \frac{1}{24} \mathcal{R} \right) e^{i(\lambda - r)t} \,\hat{\mu}(t) \, dr \, dt + O(\lambda^{-1}) \quad \text{as} \quad \lambda \to +\infty,$$
 (8.7)

where $S_2 = 4\pi$ is the surface area of the 2-sphere. But

$$\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} r^m \, e^{i(\lambda - r)t} \, \hat{\mu}(t) \, dr \, dt = \lambda^m, \qquad m = 0, 1, 2, \dots,$$

so (8.7) can be rewritten as

$$(N'_{\pm} * \mu)(y, \lambda) = \frac{1}{2\pi^2} \lambda^2 - \frac{1}{48\pi^2} \mathcal{R}(y) + O(\lambda^{-1}) \text{ as } \lambda \to +\infty.$$

Remark 8.2. Let us compare the spectrum of the Dirac operator with the spectrum of the Laplacian. Working on the same 3-manifold, let Δ be the Laplace–Beltrami operator and let $N(y,\lambda)$ be the local counting function for the operator $\sqrt{-\Delta}$. Then

$$(N' * \mu)(y, \lambda) = c_2(y) \lambda^2 + c_1(y) \lambda + c_0(y) + \dots$$
 as $\lambda \to +\infty$,

where the values of the first three Weyl coefficients are provided by [17, Theorem B.2]. Comparing these with (1.19) and (8.1), we conclude that

$$c_2^{\pm}(y) = c_2(y), \qquad c_1^{\pm}(y) = c_1(y) = 0, \qquad c_0^{\pm}(y) = -\frac{1}{2}c_0(y).$$

We see that the large (in modulus) eigenvalues of the Dirac operator are distributed approximately the same way as the eigenvalues of the operator $\sqrt{-\Delta}$, differing only in the third Weyl coefficient.

Remark 8.3. There are, of course, alternative ways of computing the third Weyl coefficients. One can, for example, calculate c_0^{\pm} by examining the quantities

$$\operatorname{Tr} e^{-W^2 t}$$
 and $\operatorname{Tr} W e^{-W^2 t}$.

which are related to the counting functions via the Mellin transform, as in [14,26]. See also [22].

9. Examples

In this section we present two explicit examples, which show how our constructions work in practice and which give us an opportunity to double-check our formulae.

The specific choice of examples is motivated by the fact that the first, $M = \mathbb{S}^3$, is isotropic in momentum whereas the second, $M = \mathbb{S}^2 \times \mathbb{S}^1$, is anisotropic in momentum.

9.1. The Case $M = \mathbb{S}^3$

Let \mathbb{R}^4 be Euclidean space equipped with Cartesian coordinates \mathbf{x}^{α} , $\alpha = 1, 2, 3, 4$, and put

$$\widehat{\mathbf{e}}_4 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Consider the 3-sphere⁷

$$\mathbb{S}^3 := \{ \mathbf{x} + \widehat{\mathbf{e}}_4 \in \mathbb{R}^4 \mid ||\mathbf{x}|| = 1 \}$$

with orientation prescribed in accordance with [28, Appendix A], equipped with the standard round metric g and with the global framings $\{V_{\pm,k}\}_{k=1}^3$ defined as the restriction to \mathbb{S}^3 of the vector fields in \mathbb{R}^4

$$\mathbf{V}_{\pm,1} := (1 - \mathbf{x}^4) \frac{\partial}{\partial \mathbf{x}^1} \mp \mathbf{x}^3 \frac{\partial}{\partial \mathbf{x}^2} \pm \mathbf{x}^2 \frac{\partial}{\partial \mathbf{x}^3} + \mathbf{x}^1 \frac{\partial}{\partial \mathbf{x}^4},
\mathbf{V}_{\pm,2} := \pm \mathbf{x}^3 \frac{\partial}{\partial \mathbf{x}^1} + (1 - \mathbf{x}^4) \frac{\partial}{\partial \mathbf{x}^2} \mp \mathbf{x}^1 \frac{\partial}{\partial \mathbf{x}^3} + \mathbf{x}^2 \frac{\partial}{\partial \mathbf{x}^4},
\mathbf{V}_{\pm,3} := \mp \mathbf{x}^2 \frac{\partial}{\partial \mathbf{x}^1} \pm \mathbf{x}^1 \frac{\partial}{\partial \mathbf{x}^2} + (1 - \mathbf{x}^4) \frac{\partial}{\partial \mathbf{x}^3} + \mathbf{x}^3 \frac{\partial}{\partial \mathbf{x}^4}.$$
(9.1)

It is easy to check that the vector fields (9.1) are tangent to \mathbb{S}^3 , so that they restrict to smooth vector fields on the 3-sphere. Note that (9.1) is an adaptation of [28, Eqn. (C.1)] to the case at hand.

Let us introduce coordinates on \mathbb{S}^3 with the north pole excised by stereographically projecting it onto the hyperplane tangent to the 3-sphere at the south pole. The stereographic map is given by

$$\sigma: \mathbb{R}^3 \to \mathbb{S}^3 \setminus \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 2 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \begin{pmatrix} u \\ v \\ w \end{pmatrix} \mapsto \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{x}^1 \\ \mathbf{x}^2 \\ \mathbf{x}^3 \\ \mathbf{x}^4 \end{pmatrix} = \frac{1}{1+f^2} \begin{pmatrix} u \\ v \\ w \\ 2f^2 \end{pmatrix},$$

where

$$f^2 := \frac{1}{4} \left(u^2 + v^2 + w^2 \right).$$

It is easy to see that the coordinate system (u, v, w) has positive orientation. In stereographic coordinates the metric reads

$$g = \frac{1}{(1+f^2)^2} \left[du^2 + dv^2 + dw^2 \right]$$
 (9.2)

and our framings are given by

$$2V_{\pm,1} = (2 - 2f^2 + u^2)\frac{\partial}{\partial u} + (uv \mp 2w)\frac{\partial}{\partial v} + (uw \pm 2v)\frac{\partial}{\partial w},$$

$$2V_{\pm,2} = (uv \pm 2w)\frac{\partial}{\partial u} + (2 - 2f^2 + v^2)\frac{\partial}{\partial v} + (vw \mp 2u)\frac{\partial}{\partial w},$$

$$2V_{\pm,3} = (uw \mp 2v)\frac{\partial}{\partial u} + (vw \pm 2u)\frac{\partial}{\partial v} + (2 - 2f^2 + w^2)\frac{\partial}{\partial w}.$$

$$(9.3)$$

A straightforward calculation shows that $\{V_{\pm,k}\}_{k=1}^3$ are positively oriented framings formed by (orthonormal) smooth Killing vector fields with respect to the metric g.

The framings $\{V_{\pm,k}\}_{k=1}^3$ define, via (1.4), two Dirac operators W_{\pm} related in accordance with

$$W_{-} = G^*W_{+}G,$$

⁷We shifted the sphere so as to place the south pole at the origin.

where

$$G := \frac{1}{4(1+f^2)} \begin{pmatrix} u^2 + v^2 + (w-2i)^2 & 4(v-iu) \\ -4(v+iu) & u^2 + v^2 + (w+2i)^2 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(9.4)

is the SU(2) gauge transformation relating the two framings via (7.49) with $\widetilde{e}_k = V_{+,k}$ and $e_k = V_{-,k}$.

Let us deal with W_+ first. On account of the symmetries of the 3-sphere, we will write formulae for principal and subprincipal symbols of the propagator of W_+ at the south pole (y=(0,0,0)) for the choice of momentum $\bar{\eta}=(0,0,1)$.

The principal symbol $(W_+)_{\text{prin}}$ has eigenvalues $h^{\pm}(y,\eta) = \pm ||\eta||$, whose Hamiltonian flows in stereographic coordinates read

$$z^{\pm}(t;0,\eta) = \pm 2\tan(t/2)\frac{\eta}{\|\eta\|}, \qquad \xi^{\pm}(t;0,\eta) = \cos^2(t/2)\,\eta,$$
 (9.5)

see also formula (5.3). Direct inspection of the parallel transport equation (6.2) reveals that the parallel transport of

$$v^+(0,\overline{\eta}) = \begin{pmatrix} 1\\0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad v^-(0,\overline{\eta}) = \begin{pmatrix} 0\\1 \end{pmatrix}$$

along z^+ and z^- , respectively, is given by

$$\zeta^+(t;0,\overline{\eta}) = e^{-\frac{it}{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 1\\0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \zeta^-(t;0,\overline{\eta}) = e^{\frac{it}{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 0\\1 \end{pmatrix},$$

so that Theorem 6.1 gives us

$$\mathfrak{a}_0^+(t;0,\overline{\eta}) = e^{-\frac{it}{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \mathfrak{a}_0^-(t;0,\overline{\eta}) = e^{\frac{it}{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (9.6)

Let us now move to the subprincipal symbol. Careful examination of formula (9.3) shows that

$$\overset{*}{K} = -q, \tag{9.7}$$

which means that this particular framing has the 'Einstein property', namely, that the Hodge dual of contorsion is proportional to the metric. Formula (9.7) implies that

$$\nabla \overset{*}{K} = 0. \tag{9.8}$$

In view of (9.7) and (9.8), Theorem 7.13 gives us

$$\mathfrak{a}_{-1}^{+}(t;0,\eta) = \frac{1-it}{4\|\eta\|} \operatorname{Id} + O(t^{2}), \tag{9.9}$$

$$\mathfrak{a}_{-1}^{-}(t;0,\eta) = -\frac{1-it}{4\|\eta\|} \operatorname{Id} - \frac{it}{2\|\eta\|} \begin{pmatrix} \eta_3 & \eta_1 - i\eta_2 \\ \eta_2 + i\eta_2 & -\eta_3 \end{pmatrix} + O(t^2). \quad (9.10)$$

In particular, formulae (9.9) and (9.10) imply

$$\mathfrak{a}_{-1}^{+}(t;0,\overline{\eta}) = \frac{1}{4} \begin{pmatrix} 1 - it & 0 \\ 0 & 1 - it \end{pmatrix} + O(t^{2}),
\mathfrak{a}_{-1}^{-}(t;0,\overline{\eta}) = -\frac{1}{4} \begin{pmatrix} 1 + it & 0 \\ 0 & 1 - 3it \end{pmatrix} + O(t^{2}).$$
(9.11)

Let us now deal with W_- . Arguing as above, one obtains the following expressions for the principal symbols

$$\mathfrak{a}_0^+(t;0,\overline{\eta}) = e^{\frac{it}{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \mathfrak{a}_0^-(t;0,\overline{\eta}) = e^{-\frac{it}{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (9.12)

The subprincipal symbols are calculated in a similar fashion, only now we have

$$\overset{*}{K} = +g\,, (9.13)$$

compare with (9.7). Combining (9.13) with Theorem 7.13 we get

$$\mathfrak{a}_{-1}^{+}(t;0,\eta) = -\frac{1+it}{4\|\eta\|}\operatorname{Id} + O(t^{2}),$$
(9.14)

$$\mathfrak{a}_{-1}^{-}(t;0,\eta) = \frac{1+it}{4\|\eta\|} \operatorname{Id} - \frac{it}{2\|\eta\|} \begin{pmatrix} \eta_3 & \eta_1 - i\eta_2 \\ \eta_2 + i\eta_2 & -\eta_3 \end{pmatrix} + O(t^2). \quad (9.15)$$

In particular, formulae (9.14) and (9.15) imply

$$\mathfrak{a}_{-1}^{+}(t;0,\overline{\eta}) = -\frac{1}{4} \begin{pmatrix} 1+it & 0\\ 0 & 1+it \end{pmatrix} + O(t^{2}),
\mathfrak{a}_{-1}^{-}(t;0,\overline{\eta}) = \frac{1}{4} \begin{pmatrix} 1-it & 0\\ 0 & 1+3it \end{pmatrix} + O(t^{2}).$$
(9.16)

Of course, the principal symbols of positive and negative propagators of W_{-} at $(t; 0, \overline{\eta})$ can also be obtained from (9.6) by means of the gauge transformation (9.4) evaluated at $z^{\pm}(t; 0, \overline{\eta})$,

$$G|_{(u,v,w)=z^{\pm}(t;0,\overline{\eta})} = \begin{pmatrix} e^{\mp it} & 0\\ 0 & e^{\pm it} \end{pmatrix}. \tag{9.17}$$

Namely, multiplying (9.6) from the left by the Hermitian conjugate of (9.17), we arrive at (9.12).

Finally, let us run a test for Theorem 8.1. It is well known [9,10,49,50] that the eigenvalues of the Dirac operator on the round 3-sphere are

$$\pm \left(k + \frac{1}{2}\right), \qquad k = 1, 2, \dots,$$

with multiplicity k(k+1). Therefore, in view of (8.2), we have

$$\mathcal{F}_{\lambda \to t}[N'_{+} * \mu](y, t) = \frac{1}{2\pi^{2}} e^{-\frac{it}{2}} \sum_{k=1}^{+\infty} k(k+1)e^{-ikt}.$$
 (9.18)

Note that the quantity $2\pi^2$ appearing in the RHS of (9.18) is the volume of the 3-sphere. Taking the Fourier transform of the RHS of (9.18) we get

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{F}_{t \to \lambda}^{-1} \left[\frac{1}{2\pi^2} e^{-\frac{it}{2}} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} (k^2 + k) e^{-ikt} \hat{\mu}(t) \right] \\ &= \frac{1}{4\pi^3} \sum_{k=1}^{+\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} e^{it(\lambda - \frac{1}{2} - k)} \left(k^2 + k \right) \hat{\mu}(t) \, \mathrm{d}t \\ &= \frac{1}{4\pi^3} \sum_{k=-\infty}^{+\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} e^{-itk} \left(k^2 + k \right) \left(e^{it(\lambda - \frac{1}{2})} \hat{\mu}(t) \right) \, \mathrm{d}t + O(\lambda^{-\infty}) \\ &= \frac{1}{2\pi^2} \left((\lambda - \frac{1}{2})^2 + (\lambda - \frac{1}{2}) + O(\lambda^{-\infty}) \right) \\ &= \frac{1}{2\pi^2} \left(\lambda^2 - \frac{1}{4} + O(\lambda^{-\infty}) \right). \end{split} \tag{9.19}$$

Combining (9.19) and (9.18) we arrive at

$$[N'_{+} * \mu](y, \lambda) = \frac{1}{2\pi^2} \left(\lambda^2 - \frac{1}{4} + O(\lambda^{-\infty})\right)$$
 as $\lambda \to +\infty$. (9.20)

Since $\mathcal{R}(y) = 6$, formula (9.20) is in agreement with (8.1).

9.2. The Case $M = \mathbb{S}^2 \times \mathbb{S}^1$

Let $M = \mathbb{S}^2 \times \mathbb{S}^1$ be endowed with the metric $g = g_{\mathbb{S}^2} + d\varphi^2$, where $g_{\mathbb{S}^2}$ is the round metric on the 2-sphere. Let $y \in M$ be given. In this subsection we shall compute the small time expansion for the subprincipal symbols of the Dirac propagator \widetilde{W} associated with a Levi-Civita framing at y. In this case, the result will not be isotropic in momentum η , because, unlike the previous example, $(\mathbb{S}^2 \times \mathbb{S}^1, q)$ is not an Einstein manifold.

Without loss of generality, we assume that y coincides with the north pole when projected onto \mathbb{S}^2 . The exponential map $\exp_y: T_yM \to M$ is realised explicitly by

$$(u, v, w) \mapsto (\theta = \sqrt{u^2 + v^2}, \phi = \arctan(v/u), \varphi = w),$$
 (9.21)

where (θ, ϕ) are standard spherical coordinates on \mathbb{S}^2 . Formula (9.21) defines geodesic normal coordinates (u, v, w) in a neighbourhood of y. In such coordinates, the metric q reads

$$g(u, v, w) = \frac{1}{u^{2} + v^{2}} \begin{pmatrix} u^{2} + \frac{v^{2} \sin^{2}(\sqrt{u^{2} + v^{2}})}{u^{2} + v^{2}} & uv \left(1 - \frac{\sin^{2}(\sqrt{u^{2} + v^{2}})}{u^{2} + v^{2}}\right) & 0\\ uv \left(1 - \frac{\sin^{2}(\sqrt{u^{2} + v^{2}})}{u^{2} + v^{2}}\right) & v^{2} + \frac{u^{2} \sin^{2}(\sqrt{u^{2} + v^{2}})}{u^{2} + v^{2}} & 0\\ 0 & 0 & u^{2} + v^{2} \end{pmatrix}. (9.22)$$

We will assume that normal coordinates are chosen so that the Levi-Civita framing satisfies $\tilde{e}_j^{\alpha}(y) = \delta_j^{\alpha}$. In this case, the Hamiltonian flows generated

by the eigenvalues of \widetilde{W}_{prin} read, simply,

$$z^{\pm}(t;0,\eta) = \pm t \frac{\eta}{\|\eta\|}, \qquad \xi^{\pm}(t;0,\eta) = \eta.$$

The Ricci curvature of g in normal coordinates (u, v, w) is given by

$$\operatorname{Ric}(u, v, w) = \frac{1}{u^{2} + v^{2}} \begin{pmatrix} u^{2} + \frac{v^{2} \sin^{2}(\sqrt{u^{2} + v^{2}})}{u^{2} + v^{2}} & uv\left(1 - \frac{\sin^{2}(\sqrt{u^{2} + v^{2}})}{u^{2} + v^{2}}\right) & 0\\ uv\left(1 - \frac{\sin^{2}(\sqrt{u^{2} + v^{2}})}{u^{2} + v^{2}}\right) & v^{2} + \frac{u^{2} \sin^{2}(\sqrt{u^{2} + v^{2}})}{u^{2} + v^{2}} & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(9.23)

Hence, Theorem 7.10 tells us that

$$\widetilde{\mathfrak{a}}_{-1}^{\pm}(t; y, \eta)
= \mp it \left(\frac{1}{12 \|\eta\|} \widetilde{P}^{\pm}(y, \eta) - \frac{1}{8 \|\eta\|^2} (\eta_1 \, \sigma^1(y) + \eta_2 \, \sigma^2(y)) \right) + O(t^2)
= \mp \frac{it}{24 \|\eta\|^2} \left[\|\eta\| \operatorname{Id} + (-3 \pm 1) \, \eta_\alpha \, \sigma^\alpha(y) + 3 \, s^3 \, \eta_\beta \, \widetilde{e}_3^{\beta}(y) \right] + O(t^2), \quad (9.24)$$

where the s^j and the σ^{α} are defined by formulae (1.2) and (1.3) respectively, and \tilde{e}_3 is the vector field $\partial/\partial\varphi$ (unit vector field along the positive direction of the circle \mathbb{S}^1).

Let us stress once again that, even though the intermediate steps depend on the choice of coordinates, the final result (9.24) is a scalar matrix-function, thus independent of the choice of coordinates. The only assumption involved in the derivation of formula (9.24) is that we used a particular Levi-Civita framing at the point y, one which respects the product structure of the manifold. The presence of the vector field \tilde{e}_3 in formula (9.24) is a manifestation of anisotropy.

Appendix A: The Weitzenböck Connection

In this appendix we recall the main properties of the Weitzenböck connection and fix our sign conventions, which are chosen in agreement with [42].

Let M be an oriented Riemannian 3-manifold and let $\{e_j\}_{j=1}^3$ be a global orthonormal framing.

Definition A.1. The Weitzenböck connection is the affine connection ∇^W on M defined by the condition

$$\nabla_v^W(f^i e_i) = v(f^i) e_i, \tag{A.1}$$

for every vector field v and $f^i \in C^{\infty}(M; \mathbb{R}), i = 1, 2, 3$.

The Weitzenböck connection is a curvature-free metric-compatible connection. Formula (A.1) implies

$$0 = \nabla^{W}_{e_k} e_j{}^{\alpha} = e_k{}^{\beta} \frac{\partial e_j{}^{\alpha}}{\partial x^{\beta}} + e_k{}^{\beta} \Upsilon^{\alpha}{}_{\beta\gamma} e_j{}^{\gamma},$$

which, in turn, yields a formula for the Weitzenböck connection coefficients $\Upsilon^{\alpha}{}_{\beta\gamma}$ in terms of the framing:

M. Capoferri, D. Vassiliev

$$\Upsilon^{\alpha}{}_{\beta\gamma} = -e^{j}{}_{\gamma} \frac{\partial e_{j}{}^{\alpha}}{\partial x^{\beta}} = e_{j}{}^{\alpha} \frac{\partial e^{j}{}_{\gamma}}{\partial x^{\beta}}. \tag{A.2}$$

Here $e^j{}_\alpha:=\delta^{jk}\,g_{\alpha\beta}\,e_k{}^\beta.$ The torsion tensor associated with ∇^W is

$$T^{\alpha}{}_{\beta\gamma} = \Upsilon^{\alpha}{}_{\beta\gamma} - \Upsilon^{\alpha}{}_{\gamma\beta} \tag{A.3}$$

and the curvature tensor vanishes identically. The Weitzenböck connection coefficients and the Christoffel symbols are related via the identity

$$\Upsilon^{\alpha}{}_{\beta\gamma} = \Gamma^{\alpha}{}_{\beta\gamma} + \frac{1}{2} \left(T^{\alpha}{}_{\beta\gamma} + T_{\beta}{}^{\alpha}{}_{\gamma} + T_{\gamma}{}^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} \right), \tag{A.4}$$

see [42, Eqn. (7.34)]. The second summand on the RHS of (A.4)

$$K^{\alpha}{}_{\beta\gamma} := \frac{1}{2} \left(T^{\alpha}{}_{\beta\gamma} + T_{\beta}{}^{\alpha}{}_{\gamma} + T_{\gamma}{}^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} \right) \tag{A.5}$$

is called *contorsion* of ∇^W . Note that the torsion tensor is antisymmetric in the second and third indices, $T^{\alpha}{}_{\beta\gamma} = -T^{\alpha}{}_{\gamma\beta}$, whereas the contorsion tensor is antisymmetric in the first and third ones, $K_{\alpha\beta\gamma} = -K_{\gamma\beta\alpha}$ (the first index was lowered using the metric). Torsion and contorsion can be expressed one in terms of the other and capture the geometric information encoded within the framing.

In dimension three antisymmetric tensors of order two are equivalent to vectors. Therefore, we define

$$\overset{*}{T}_{\alpha\beta} := \frac{1}{2} T_{\alpha}^{\ \mu\nu} E_{\mu\nu\beta} \,, \tag{A.6}$$

$$\overset{*}{K}_{\alpha\beta} := \frac{1}{2} K^{\mu}{}_{\alpha}{}^{\nu} E_{\mu\nu\beta} , \qquad (A.7)$$

where

$$E_{\alpha\beta\gamma}(x) := \rho(x)\,\varepsilon_{\alpha\beta\gamma}\,,\tag{A.8}$$

 ρ is the Riemannian density and ε is the totally antisymmetric symbol, $\varepsilon_{123} := +1$. It is often convenient to use (A.6) and (A.7) instead of T and K because the former have lower order—two instead of three.

As a final remark, we observe that formulae (A.6), (A.7) and (A.5) imply

$$\overset{*}{K}_{\alpha\beta} = \overset{*}{T}_{\alpha\beta} - \frac{1}{2} \overset{*}{T}^{\gamma}{}_{\gamma} g_{\alpha\beta}, \tag{A.9}$$

$$\overset{*}{T}_{\alpha\beta} = \overset{*}{K}_{\alpha\beta} - \overset{*}{K}_{\gamma} g_{\alpha\beta}. \tag{A.10}$$

Appendix B: Some technical proofs

B.1. Proof of Theorem 5.4

In the following we work in normal coordinates centred at y = 0 such that

$$e_j{}^{\alpha}(0) = \widetilde{e}_j{}^{\alpha}(0) = \delta_j{}^{\alpha}.$$

Since $G \in C^{\infty}(M; SU(2))$ and G(0) = Id, there exist smooth real-valued functions A_k , k = 1, 2, 3, such that $A_k(0) = 0$ and

$$G(x) = e^{is^k A_k(x)} \tag{B.1}$$

in a neighbourhood of y = 0. Differentiating (B.1) with respect to x and evaluating the result at 0, we obtain

$$G_{x^{\alpha}}(0) = is^k F_{k\alpha},\tag{B.2}$$

where $F_{k\alpha} := [A_k]_{x^{\alpha}}(0)$.

Now, differentiating (5.22) with respect to x and evaluating the result at 0, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \frac{\partial e_{j}^{\ \alpha}}{\partial x^{\beta}}(0) &= \frac{1}{2}\operatorname{tr}\left[s_{j}\,G_{x^{\beta}}^{*}(0)\,s^{k} + s_{j}\,s^{k}\,G_{x^{\beta}}(0)\right]\widetilde{e}_{k}^{\ \alpha}(0) + \frac{\partial\widetilde{e}_{k}^{\ \alpha}}{\partial x^{\beta}}(0) \\ &= \frac{1}{2}\operatorname{tr}\left[\left[s_{j}\,s^{k}\,G_{x^{\beta}}(0)\right]^{*} + s_{j}\,s^{k}\,G_{x^{\beta}}(0)\right]\widetilde{e}_{k}^{\ \alpha}(0) + \frac{\partial\widetilde{e}_{k}^{\ \alpha}}{\partial x^{\beta}}(0) & (\text{B.3}) \\ &= \operatorname{Re}\,\operatorname{tr}\left[s_{j}\,s^{k}\,G_{x^{\beta}}(0)\right]\widetilde{e}_{k}^{\ \alpha}(0) + \frac{\partial\widetilde{e}_{k}^{\ \alpha}}{\partial x^{\beta}}(0). \end{split}$$

Contracting (B.3) with $e^j_{\gamma}(0) = \tilde{e}^j_{\gamma}(0) = \delta^j_{\gamma}$, using (A.2) and rearranging, we obtain

$$\widetilde{\Upsilon}^{\alpha}{}_{\beta\gamma}(0) - \Upsilon^{\alpha}{}_{\beta\gamma}(0) = \operatorname{Re}\operatorname{tr}\left[i\,s_{j}\,s^{k}\,s^{l}\right]\,F_{l\beta}\,\delta^{j}{}_{\gamma}\,\delta_{k}{}^{\alpha}$$

$$= -2\,\varepsilon_{\gamma}{}^{\alpha l}\,F_{l\beta}.$$
(B.4)

In view of (A.3), formula (B.4) implies

$$T^{\alpha}{}_{\beta\gamma}(0) - \widetilde{T}^{\alpha}{}_{\beta\gamma}(0) = 2\,\varepsilon_{\gamma}{}^{\alpha l}\,F_{l\beta} - 2\,\varepsilon_{\beta}{}^{\alpha l}\,F_{l\gamma}.\tag{B.5}$$

Contracting (B.5) with $\frac{1}{2}E_{\sigma}^{\beta\gamma}(y) = \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon_{\sigma}^{\beta\gamma}$, cf. (A.8), we get

$$T^{\alpha}{}_{\sigma}(0) - \tilde{T}^{\alpha}{}_{\sigma}(0) = 2\varepsilon_{\sigma}{}^{\beta\gamma} \varepsilon_{\gamma}{}^{\alpha l} F_{l\beta}$$

$$= 2\delta^{\beta l} F_{l\beta} \delta_{\sigma}{}^{\alpha} - 2\delta_{\sigma}{}^{l} F_{l\alpha}.$$
(B.6)

Inverting (B.6) so as to express F in terms of $[T - \tilde{T}](0)$, we arrive at

$$-2F_{k\beta} = \delta_k^{\alpha} \left[\overset{*}{T} - \overset{*}{\widetilde{T}} \right]_{\alpha\beta}(y) - \frac{1}{2} \delta_{k\beta} \left[\overset{*}{T} - \overset{*}{\widetilde{T}} \right]_{\gamma}^{\gamma}(0)$$
$$= \delta_k^{\alpha} \left[\overset{*}{K} - \overset{*}{\widetilde{K}} \right]_{\alpha\beta}(0). \tag{B.7}$$

Substitution of (B.7) into (B.2) gives (5.23).

B. 2. Proof of Theorem 7.11

Recall that according to formula (7.49) we have G(y) = Id. In the following we work in a sufficiently small neighbourhood \mathcal{U} of y and we choose normal coordinates centred at y = 0 such that $\tilde{e}_j^{\alpha}(0) = e_j^{\alpha}(0) = \delta_j^{\alpha}$.

Since $G \in C^{\infty}(M; SU(2))$ and G(0) = Id, there exist smooth real-valued functions A_k , k = 1, 2, 3, such that $v_k(0) = 0$ and

$$G(x) = e^{is^k A_k(x)} \tag{B.8}$$

in a neighbourhood of y=0. Differentiating (B.8) twice with respect to x and evaluating the result at zero we obtain

$$G_{x^{\alpha}x^{\beta}}(0) = is^{k} [A_{k}]_{x^{\alpha}x^{\beta}}(0) - \frac{1}{2}s^{k} s^{j} (F_{k\alpha}F_{j\beta} + F_{j\alpha}F_{k\beta})$$

$$= is^{k} H_{k\alpha\beta} - \delta^{jk} \operatorname{Id} F_{j\alpha}F_{k\beta}.$$
(B.9)

Here $H_{k\alpha\beta} := [A_k]_{x^{\alpha}x^{\beta}}(0)$ and $F_{k\alpha} := [A_k]_{x^{\alpha}}(0)$. The task at hand is to express H in terms of the contorsion tensor K and its derivatives.

Differentiating the identity

$$\Upsilon^{\alpha}{}_{\beta\gamma}(x) = e_k{}^{\alpha}(x) \frac{\partial e^k{}_{\gamma}}{\partial x^{\beta}}(x)$$

with respect to x^{μ} , evaluating the outcome at y=0 and resorting to Lemma 7.2, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \left[\Upsilon^{\alpha}{}_{\beta\gamma}\right]_{x^{\mu}}(0) &= \frac{\partial e_{k}{}^{\alpha}}{\partial x^{\mu}}(0) \frac{\partial e^{k}{}_{\gamma}}{\partial x^{\beta}}(0) + e_{k}{}^{\alpha}(0) \frac{\partial^{2} e^{k}{}_{\gamma}}{\partial x^{\beta} \partial x^{\mu}}(0) \\ &= -\Upsilon^{\alpha}{}_{\mu\rho}(0) \Upsilon^{\rho}{}_{\beta\gamma}(0) \\ &+ \delta_{k}{}^{\alpha} \operatorname{Re} \operatorname{tr}\left[s^{k} G_{x^{\beta}x^{\mu}}^{*}(0) s_{l} + s^{k} G_{x^{\beta}}^{*}(0) s_{l} G_{x^{\mu}}(0)\right] \delta^{l}{}_{\gamma} \\ &+ \delta_{k}{}^{\alpha} \left[\widetilde{e}^{k}{}_{\gamma}\right]_{x^{\beta}x^{\mu}}(0) \\ &= -\Upsilon^{\alpha}{}_{\mu\rho}(0) \Upsilon^{\rho}{}_{\beta\gamma}(0) + \delta_{k}{}^{\alpha} \delta^{l}{}_{\gamma} \operatorname{Re} \operatorname{tr}\left[s_{l} s^{k} G_{x^{\beta}x^{\mu}}^{*}(0)\right] \\ &+ \delta_{k}{}^{\alpha} \delta^{l}{}_{\gamma} \operatorname{Re} \operatorname{tr}\left[s^{k} G_{x^{\beta}}^{*}(0) s_{l} G_{x^{\mu}}(0)\right] + \delta_{k}{}^{\alpha} \left[\widetilde{e}^{k}{}_{\gamma}\right]_{x^{\beta}x^{\mu}}(0). \end{split}$$

Straightforward calculations show that

$$-\Upsilon^{\alpha}{}_{\mu\rho}(0)\Upsilon^{\rho}{}_{\beta\gamma}(0) = -\operatorname{Re}\operatorname{tr}\left[s^{\alpha}G^{*}_{x^{\mu}}(0)s_{\rho}\right]\operatorname{Re}\operatorname{tr}\left[s^{\rho}G^{*}_{x^{\beta}}(0)s_{\gamma}\right]$$
$$= 4\delta^{\alpha}{}_{\gamma}F^{r}{}_{\beta}F_{r\mu} - 4\delta^{\alpha j}\delta_{\gamma}{}^{k}F_{j\beta}F_{k\mu},$$
(B.11)

$$\delta_k{}^{\alpha}\delta^l{}_{\gamma}\operatorname{Re}\operatorname{tr}[s_l\,s^k\,G^*_{x^{\beta}x^{\mu}}(0)] = -2\varepsilon^{\alpha}{}_{\gamma}{}^r\,H_{r\beta\mu} - 2\delta^{\alpha}{}_{\gamma}\,F^r{}_{\beta}\,F_{r\mu} \tag{B.12}$$

and

$$\delta_k^{\alpha} \delta_{\gamma}^l \operatorname{Retr}[s_l G_{x\beta}^*(0) s^k G_{x\mu}(0)]$$

$$= 2(\delta^{\alpha k} \delta_{\gamma}^j + \delta^{\alpha j} \delta_{\gamma}^k) F_{j\mu} F_{k\beta} - 2\delta_{\gamma}^{\alpha} F_{\beta}^r F_{r\mu}.$$
(B.13)

Substituting (B.11)–(B.13) into (B.10) we obtain

$$[\Upsilon^{\alpha}{}_{\beta\gamma}]_{r\mu}(0)$$

$$= -2\varepsilon^{\alpha}{}_{\gamma}{}^{r}H_{r\beta\mu} + 2(\delta^{\alpha j}\delta^{k}{}_{\gamma} - \delta^{\alpha k}\delta^{j}{}_{\gamma})F_{j\mu}F_{k\beta} + \delta_{k}{}^{\alpha}\left[\tilde{e}^{k}{}_{\gamma}\right]_{x^{\beta}x^{\mu}}(0). \quad (B.14)$$

Summing up (B.14) and (B.14) with indices β and μ swapped, we arrive at

$$\left[\Upsilon^{\alpha}{}_{\beta\gamma}\right]_{r\mu}(0) + \left[\Upsilon^{\alpha}{}_{\mu\gamma}\right]_{r\beta}(0) = -4\varepsilon^{\alpha}{}_{\gamma}{}^{r}H_{r\beta\mu} + 2\delta_{k}{}^{\alpha}\left[\widetilde{e}^{k}{}_{\gamma}\right]_{x\beta}{}_{x\mu}(0). \quad (B.15)$$

Now, formula (A.4) and the fact that the Christoffel symbols vanish at y=0imply

$$\varepsilon_{\alpha}{}^{\gamma}{}_{\rho} \Upsilon^{\alpha}{}_{\mu\gamma}(0) = \varepsilon_{\alpha}{}^{\gamma}{}_{\rho} K^{\alpha}{}_{\mu\gamma}(0) = 2 \overset{*}{K}_{\mu\rho}(0). \tag{B.16}$$

Hence, by contracting (B.15) with $\varepsilon_{\alpha}{}^{\gamma}{}_{\rho}$, substituting (B.16) in, and resorting to the identity

$$\varepsilon_{\alpha}{}^{\gamma}{}_{\rho}\,\varepsilon^{\alpha}{}_{\gamma}{}^{r} = 2\delta_{\rho}{}^{r},$$

we obtain

$$[K_{\beta\rho}]_{x^{\mu}}(0) + [K_{\mu\rho}]_{x^{\beta}}(0) = -4 \,\delta_{\rho}{}^{r} \,H_{r\beta\mu} + \varepsilon_{\alpha}{}^{\gamma}{}_{\rho} \,\delta_{k}{}^{\alpha} \,[\tilde{e}^{k}{}_{\gamma}]_{x^{\beta}x^{\mu}}(0). \tag{B.17}$$

We claim that

$$\varepsilon_{\alpha}{}^{\gamma}{}_{\rho} \, \delta_{k}{}^{\alpha} \left[\widetilde{e}^{k}{}_{\gamma} \right]_{x^{\beta} x^{\mu}} (0) = 0. \tag{B.18}$$

To see this, let us observe that formula (7.1) implies

$$\widetilde{e}^k{}_{\gamma}(x) = e^k{}_{\gamma}(0) - \frac{1}{6} e^k{}_{\rho}(0) \, R_{\gamma\tau}{}^{\rho}{}_{\nu}(0) \, x^{\tau} x^{\nu} + O(\|x\|^3), \qquad j = 1, 2, 3,$$

so that

$$\delta_k^{\alpha} \left[\tilde{e}^k_{\gamma} \right]_{x^{\beta} x^{\mu}} (0) = -\frac{1}{6} \left(R_{\gamma \beta}^{\alpha}_{\mu} + R_{\gamma \mu}^{\alpha}_{\beta} \right) (0).$$
 (B.19)

The RHS of (B.19) is symmetric in α and γ , whereas $\varepsilon_{\alpha}{}^{\gamma}{}_{\rho}$ is antisymmetric in the same indices, so (B.18) follows.

All in all, (B.9), (B.17) and (B.18) give us

$$\nabla_{\alpha}\nabla_{\beta} G(0) = -\frac{i}{4} \left[\nabla_{\alpha} \overset{*}{K}_{\beta\rho}(0) + \nabla_{\beta} \overset{*}{K}_{\alpha\rho}(0)\right] \sigma^{\rho}(0) - \delta^{jk} \operatorname{Id} F_{j\alpha} F_{k\beta}. \quad (B.20)$$

Finally, substitution of (B.7) with $\widetilde{K}(0) = 0$ (which is the case for the Levi-Civita framing) into (B.20) yields (7.54).

Acknowledgements

We are grateful to Yiannis Petridis for providing useful references. Furthermore, we would like to thank an anonymous referee for insightful comments, in particular, for suggesting the argument in Remark 3.9.

Declarations

Conflict of interest The authors have no relevant financial or non-financial interests to disclose.

Open Access. This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

Publisher's Note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

References

- [1] Atiyah, M.F., Patodi, V.K., Singer, I.M.: Spectral asymmetry and Riemannian geometry. Bull. Lond. Math. Soc. 5, 229–234 (1973)
- [2] Atiyah, M.F., Patodi, V.K., Singer, I.M.: Spectral asymmetry and Riemannian geometry I. Math. Proc. Camb. Philos. Soc. 77, 43–69 (1975)
- [3] Atiyah, M.F., Patodi, V.K., Singer, I.M.: Spectral asymmetry and Riemannian geometry II. Math. Proc. Camb. Philos. Soc. 78, 405–432 (1975)
- [4] Atiyah, M.F., Patodi, V.K., Singer, I.M.: Spectral asymmetry and Riemannian geometry III. Math. Proc. Camb. Philos. Soc. 79, 71–99 (1976)
- [5] Avakumovic, V.G.: Über die Eigenfunktionen auf geschlossenen Riemannschen Mannigfaltigkeiten. Math. Z. 65, 327–344 (1956)
- [6] Avetisyan, Z., Fang, Y.-L., Saveliev, N., Vassiliev, D.: Analytic definition of spin structure. J. Math. Phys. 58, 082301 (2017)
- [7] Avetisyan, Z., Sjöstrand, J., Vassiliev, D.: The second Weyl coefficient for a first order system. In: Kurasov, P., Laptev, A., Naboko, S., Simon, B. (eds.) Analysis as a Tool in Mathematical Physics, Operator Theory: Advances and Applications, 276 Birkhäuser Verlag, 120–153 (2020)
- [8] Bär, C.: Metrics with harmonic spinors. Geom. Funct. Anal. 6, 899–942 (1996)
- [9] Bär, C.: The Dirac operator on space forms of positive curvature. J. Math. Soc. Jpn. 48, 69–83 (1996)
- [10] Bär, C.: Dependence of the Dirac spectrum on the spin structure. Sémin. Congr. 4, 17–33 (2000)
- [11] Battistotti, P.: An invariant approach to symbolic calculus for pseudodifferential operators on manifolds, Ph.D. thesis, King's College London (2015)
- [12] Bismut, J.-M., Freed, D.S.: The analysis of elliptic families. II. Dirac operators, eta invariants, and the holonomy theorem. Commun. Math. Phys. 107, 103–163 (1986)
- [13] Bourguignon, J.-P., Gauduchon, P.: Spineurs, opérateurs de dirac et variations de métriques. Commun. Math. Phys. 144, 581–599 (1992)
- [14] Branson, T.P., Gilkey, P.B.: Residues of the eta function for an operator of Dirac type. J. Funct. Anal. 108, 47–87 (1992)
- [15] Capoferri, M.: Diagonalization of elliptic systems via pseudodifferential projections. J. Differ. Equ. 313, 157–187 (2022)
- [16] Capoferri, M., Dappiaggi, C., Drago, N.: Global wave parametrices on globally hyperbolic spacetimes. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 490, 124316 (2020)
- [17] Capoferri, M., Levitin, M., Vassiliev, D.: Geometric wave propagator on Riemannian manifolds. Preprint arXiv:1902.06982,: to appear in Commun. Anal. Geom. (2019)
- [18] Capoferri, M., Murro, S.: Global and microlocal aspects of Dirac operators: propagators and Hadamard states. Preprint arXiv:2201.12104 (2022)
- [19] Capoferri, M., Saveliev, N., Vassiliev, D.: Classification of first order sesquilinear forms. Rev. Math. Phys. 32, 2050027 (2020)
- [20] Capoferri, M., Vassiliev, D.: Invariant subspaces of elliptic systems I: pseudo-differential projections. J. Funct. Anal. 282(8), 109402 (2022)
- [21] Capoferri, M., Vassiliev, D.: Invariant subspaces of elliptic systems II: spectral theory. J. Spectr. Theory 12(1), 301–338 (2022)

- [22] Chamseddine, A.H., Connes, A.: The spectral action principle. Commun. Math. Phys. **186**, 731–750 (1997)
- [23] Chervova, O., Downes, R.J., Vassiliev, D.: The spectral function of a first order elliptic system. J. Spectr. Theory **3**(3), 317–360 (2013)
- [24] Chervova, O., Downes, R.J., Vassiliev, D.: Spectral theoretic characterization of the massless Dirac operator. J. Lond. Math. Soc. 89, 301–320 (2014)
- [25] Downes, R.J., Levitin, M., Vassiliev, D.: Spectral asymmetry of the massless Dirac operator on a 3-torus. J. Math. Phys. 54 (2013)
- [26] Duistermaat, J.J., Guillemin, V.W.: The spectrum of positive elliptic operators and periodic bicharacteristics. Invent. Math. 29(1), 39–79 (1975)
- [27] Duistermaat, J.J., Hörmander, L.: Fourier integral operators. II. Acta Math. **128**(3–4), 183–269 (1972)
- [28] Fang, Y.-L., Levitin, M., Vassiliev, D.: Spectral analysis of the Dirac operator on a 3-sphere. Oper. Matrices 12, 501–527 (2018)
- [29] Fang, Y.-L., Vassiliev, D.: Analysis of first order systems of partial differential equations. In: Complex Analysis and Dynamical Systems VI: Part 1: PDE, Differential Geometry, Radon Transform. AMS Contemporary Mathematics series **653**, 163–176 (2015)
- [30] Friedrich, T.: Dirac Operators in Riemannian Geometry, Graduate Studies in Mathematics, 25, American Mathematical Society (2000)
- [31] Gilkey, P.B.: The residue of the global η function at the origin. Adv. Math. 40, 290-307 (1981)
- [32] Heath-Brown, D.R.: Lattice Points in the Sphere, Number Theory in Progress, vol. 2, pp. 883–892. de Gruyter, Berlin (1999)
- [33] Hörmander, L.: The analysis of linear partial differential operators. I. Reprint of the second (1990) edition. Classics in Mathematics. Springer, Berlin, 2003; III. Reprint of the 1994 edition. Classics in Mathematics. Springer, Berlin, 2007; IV. Reprint of the 1994 edition. Classics in Mathematics. Springer, Berlin (2009)
- [34] Ivrii, V.: Second term of the spectral asymptotic expansion of the Laplace-Beltrami operator on manifolds with boundary. Funct. Anal. Appl. 14, 98–106
- [35] Ivrii, V.: Precise Spectral Asymptotics for Elliptic Operators Acting in Fiberings Over Manifolds with Boundary. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, vol. 1100. Springer, Berlin (1984)
- [36] Ivrii, V.: Microlocal Analysis and Precise Spectral Asymptotics. Springer, Berlin (1998)
- [37] Kirby, R.C.: The Topology of 4-Manifolds. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, vol. 1374. Springer, Berlin (1989)
- [38] Laptev, A., Safarov, Yu., Vassiliev, D.: On global representation of Lagrangian distributions and solutions of hyperbolic equations. Commun. Pure Appl. Math. **47**(11), 1411–1456 (1994)
- [39] Lawson, H.B., Michelsohn, M.-L.: Spin Geometry. Princeton University Press, Princeton (1989)
- [40] Levitan, B.M.: On the asymptotic behaviour of the spectral function of a selfadjoint differential second order equation. Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR Ser. Mat. 19, 325–352 (1952)

- [41] Li, L., Strohmaier, A.: The local counting function of operators of Dirac and Laplace type. J. Geom. Phys. 104, 204–228 (2016)
- [42] Nakahara, M.: Geometry, Topology and Physics, 2nd edn. IOP Publishing (2003)
- [43] Nicoll, W.J.: Global oscillatory integrals for solutions of hyperbolic systems, Ph.D. thesis, University of Sussex (1998). https://ethos.bl.uk/OrderDetails.do?uin=uk.bl.ethos.266443
- [44] Safarov, Yu.: Non-classical two-term spectral asymptotics for self-adjoint elliptic operators. DSc thesis, Leningrad Branch of the Steklov Mathematical Institute of the USSR Academy of Sciences (1989). In Russian
- [45] Safarov, Yu., Vassiliev, D.: The asymptotic distribution of eigenvalues of partial differential operators. American Mathematical Society, Providence (RI) (1997)
- [46] Sharafutdinov, V.: Geometric symbol calculus for pseudodifferential operators: I. Siberian Adv. Math. 15(3), 81–125 (2005)
- [47] Shubin, M.A.: Pseudodifferential Operators and Spectral Theory. Springer, Berlin (2001)
- [48] Stiefel, E.: Richtungsfelder und Fernparallelismus in *n*-dimensionalen Mannigfaltigkeiten. Comment. Math. Helv. **8**, 305–353 (1935–1936)
- [49] Sulanke, S.: Berechnung des Spektrums des Quadrates des Dirac-Operators auf der Sphäre und Untersuchungen zum ersten Eigenwert von D auf 5-dimensionalen Räumen konstanter positiver Schnittkrümmung, Ph.D. thesis, Humboldt Universität zu Berlin (1981)
- [50] Trautman, A.: The Dirac operator on hypersurfaces. Acta Phys. Pol. B 26, 1283–1310 (1995)

Matteo Capoferri and Dmitri Vassiliev Department of Mathematics University College London Gower Street London WC1E 6BT UK

e-mail: d.vassiliev@ucl.ac.uk

Matteo Capoferri (⋈) School of Mathematics Cardiff University Senghennydd Rd Cardiff CF24 4AG

UK

e-mail: matteo.capoferri@gmail.com

Received: February 20, 2022.

Revised: July 2, 2022. Accepted: July 11, 2022.